# NOVEMBER 2023 **COSTOF SOUTOERE STUDY: SOUTOERE BAL JOINT OF CONTRACT OF CONTACT OF CONTRACT OF CONTACT OF CONTRACT OF CONTRACT OF CONTRACT OF CONTRACT O**





This report was prepared by Richard Matzopoulos, Sarah Truen, and Ian Neethling, and commissioned by <u>African Centre for the Constructive Resolution of Disputes (ACCORD)</u>, with the support of <u>Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies</u>, based at the <u>Center on International Cooperation</u> at New York University.

### **About the Authors**

**Richard Matzopoulos** is a Chief Specialist Scientist and Director of the South African Medical Research Council's Burden of Disease Research Unit. He also co-ordinates the Violence and Injury Research programme at the University of Cape Town's Division of Public Health Medicine, where he holds the position of Honorary Professor, and serves on the Steering Committee of the Health Science Faculty's Trauma Advocacy Group. His research centers on measuring the health and social burden of violence and injury, and evaluating interventions and policies that target upstream determinants. He advises the Western Cape Government on alcohol harm reduction, and interpersonal violence and injury prevention and surveillance.

**Ian Neethling** is a Specialist Scientist and Public Health expert specializing in burden of disease methodology, with a focus on avoidable mortality and health state valuations. He serves as a co-Principal Investigator for the National Burden of Disease and SMS Telephonic Verbal Autopsy Studies, contributing his expertise to these vital initiatives. Ian's earlier experience includes involvement in mortality surveillance, notably through his work on the National Injury Mortality Surveillance System and the Western Cape Local Mortality Surveillance project.

**Sarah Truen** is an independent regulatory economist, with deep expertise in policy impact assessment, who is currently consulting to Operation Vulindlela on a structural reform program in rail. She has advised the National Department of Health on the impact of proposed alcohol advertising reforms, and has reviewed the economic impact of alcohol legislation for the Department of Trade, Industry and Competition. She also has deep expertise on the functioning and impact of regional remittance markets.

### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the following people for their generous time and contributions to this paper: Sarah Cliffe, Vasu Gounden, Jeni Klugman, Daniel Friedman, Hayden Allen, and Luisa Portugal, for their insights and contributions to the drafting process; Symphony Chau for coordinating the publication process; Stephen Laifer for the copyedit; and James Protano for the graphic design.

This work was possible through the generous support of Switzerland's Federal Department of Foreign Affairs through the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation.

## **About the Program**

The <u>Grand Challenge on Halving Global Violence</u> (HGV) is creating a movement to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals targets for peace. It brings together communities of practice working on different forms of violence in order to highlight interlinkages and amplify impact on the ground. While most international attention concentrates on armed conflicts, evidence shows that it is interpersonal violence, especially interpersonal violence occurring in urban zones, that has the most impact on people's daily lives and has a direct effect on other sustainable development indicators. For this reason, Halving Global Violence largely focuses on interpersonal violence and seeks to better understand how to address, in part through studies like this.

The movement is spearheaded by the high-level <u>Halving Global Violence Task Force</u>, a coalition of world leaders and experts committed to leveraging their knowledge, expertise, and networks to identify and disseminate evidence-based solutions to significantly reduce global violence.

HGV is an initiative of the Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, a crossregional impact hub of 46 member states, as well as partners across international organizations, civil society, and the private sector committed to advancing the Sustainable Development Goal targets for peace, justice, inclusion, and equality (SDG16+). Pathfinders is hosted at New York University's Center on International Cooperation.

### **About this Publication**

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0). Under the Creative Commons Attribution license, you are free to copy, distribute, transmit, and adapt this work, including for commercial purposes, as long as attribution is given and any changes made are indicated.

Richard Matzopoulos, Sarah Truen, and Ian Neethling, "Cost of Violence Study: South Africa." (New York: NYU Center on International Cooperation, November 2023), available at sdg16. plus/peace.

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary1
1 Introduction5
2 Prevalence and Drivers of Violence7
2.1 Overview of South African homicide data7
2.2 Overview of nonfatal data describing interpersonal violence in South Africa
2.3 Burden of disease synthesis describing the impact of violence on multiple health outcomes7
2.4 Summary of violence prevalence measures18
2.5 Risk factors for interpersonal violence in South Africa
3 Costs of Violence
3.1 Tangible costs
3.2 Intangible costs
3.3 Summary of tangible and intangible costs
4 Interventions and Reforms to Prevent Violence, and Associated Costs
4.1 Individual and family-based interventions32
4.2 Community level programs
4.3 National-level policies, stragies, and legal reforms
4.4 Media campaigns seeking to change attitudes and norms around violence
4.5. Summary of violence prevention interventions and reforms
5 Recommendations for Policymakers40
Endnotes

# **Executive Summary**

### Introduction

Violence as a health priority impacts low- to middle-income countries (LMICs) disproportionately, which experience mortality rates almost 2.5 times greater than in high-income countries. South Africa (SA) is among the LMICs most affected by violence with homicide rates six times global averages and among the world's highest rates of gender-based violence, including rape and intimate partner violence. Several historical drivers have contributed, including colonialism, apartheid race-based social control policies, civil unrest and armed struggle, and the violent oppression of social justice movements. Some social drivers have endured, and income inequality—which still largely follows the apartheid-era race profiles and geography—has continued to be entrenched within society.

Within this milieu certain progressive policies such as the *1996 National Crime Prevention Strategy* and the *2020 National Strategic Plan on Gender-Based Violence and Femicide* have sought to holistically address SA's problem. However, uptake has been sub-optimal and violence has become so normalized that the extent of its harm to society is no longer fully recognized. This report (1) presents evidence for the prevention of violence including examples from SA, and (2) document the enormous toll of violence in terms of both its health impact on mortality and morbidity, and its economic cost. In doing so, **the study illustrates the costs of prevention are not prohibitive and emphasize the urgent need to implement effective policies and interventions.** 

### **Prevalence and Drivers of Violence**

We describe the prevalence and drivers of violence particularly on direct and measurable forms—homicide (murder), assaults and intimate partner violence—to gain a more complete understanding of the nature of violence, how it manifests, and its gendered nature. We standardized numerical estimates to 2019 as we considered this year, just prior to COVID-19, to be more reflective of typical conditions. Using the SA Medical Research Council (SAMRC) injury mortality surveys and police murder trends we estimated a total of 20,529 homicides in SA in 2019—of which 19,065 were male and 1463 were female.

To take into account the non-fatal component alongside violence-related deaths we applied the burden of disease method that measures population health using a single metric, i.e., the disability-adjusted life-year or DALY. We included a wide range of violence risks—all forms of child maltreatment (including physical, sexual, emotional abuse, neglect, and witnessing family violence) and community violence (including sexual violence by partners and non-partners and bullying victimization), as well as outcomes that arise from violence such as injuries, self-harm, depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, HIV/AIDS, maternal abortion, miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy, and alcohol use disorders. This study found that the direct impact of interpersonal violence injuries in males was notably higher, but the burden of other health outcomes associated with interpersonal violence, like anxiety disorders, depressive disorders, and alcohol use disorders are more pronounced in females. This underscored the importance of comprehensive analysis that encompasses diverse health outcomes.

We noted the wide range of risk factors for interpersonal violence presenting in SA and that it was the confluence of risks rather than any unique risk factor that drives the high rates of violence in SA. For example, age and sex are among the individual risk and protective factors that increase or decrease the risk of aggression and exposure to violence, which is not unique to SA. However, the risk is amplified by the demographic structure of SAn cities with a high concentration of youths and young adults, and compromised child development due to malnutrition and fetal alcohol syndrome, which increases the risk of delinquent behavior. The situation is additionally exacerbated by upstream/distal societal risks further up the causal chain, such as employment, poverty and income inequality, and access to housing, education and other public infrastructure that provide the context that enables or inhibits interpersonal violence. Some are legacies of systemic violence in SA's post-colonial past and recent history of racial segregation, as well as the rapid social change that followed democracy.

### **Cost of Violence**

We estimated the annual cost of violence in South African rand—at the time of writing approximately ZAR 19.30 to USD 1—to facilitate comparison to gross domestic product (GDP). The first cost category comprised tangible costs—defined as being financial in nature with direct economic impact and orders of magnitude smaller than intangible costs of trauma and psychological injury. These comprised of first order tangible costs that arise immediately and directly after a violent incident and second order costs that followed months or years later. We included first order tangible costs accruing to the healthcare system and criminal justice sector, across which approximately 10 percent of costs were attributable to interpersonal violence at ZAR 15.7 and ZAR 35.2 billion respectively in 2019 rands. We included two dimensions of second order tangible costs that imposed longer term deleterious impacts on the economy. The costs of absenteeism, presenteeism, and early retirement were estimated at ZAR 35.8 billion and the impact on human capital formation and lifetime earnings even higher at ZAR 42.3 billion.

These costs, which are summarized below, are likely to represent a significant underestimation of true total costs as a number of second order tangible costs could not be quantified including the risk perception effect on business activity, increased security spending, and the cost of emigration. While the tangible costs are estimated to be approximately ZAR 129 billion, or 2.3 percent of 2019 GDP, the intangible costs were extremely high and amounted to more than twice 2019 GDP. While the tangible costs are estimated to be approximately ZAR 129 billion, or 2.3 percent of 2019 GDP, the intangible costs were extremely high and amounted to more than three times tangible costs at 7.1 percent of 2019

#### Summary of cost estimates, 2019 ZAR million

	2019 cost estimate, ZAR million	As a % of 2019 GDP
Tangible costs		
Healthcare costs	ZAR 15,687	0.3%
Criminal justice system	ZAR 35,175	0.6%
Absenteeism, presenteeism, and early retirement	ZAR 35,824	0.6%
Human capital formation and lifetime earnings	ZAR 42,277	0.8%
Total tangible costs	ZAR 128,963	2.3%
Intangible costs*1	ZAR 398,114	7.1%

While the tangible costs are estimated to be approximately ZAR 129 billion, or 2.3 percent of 2019 GDP, the intangible costs were extremely high and amounted to more than three times tangible costs at 7.1 percent of 2019.

# Interventions and Reforms to Prevent Violence, and Associated Costs

Early childhood development programs are considered key interventions to reduce violence and aggressive behavior directly and to address triggers for the onset of aggressive behavior across the life course. There are several South African interventions that have been tested in the domestic setting with favorable results, including several parenting interventions arising from the "Parenting for Lifelong Health" and programs implemented in primary health care settings including antenatal clinics, and in emergency units to address hazardous and harmful drinking like Project STRIVE.

At the community level there are several effective SAn initiatives to reduce interpersonal violence. *Stepping Stones and Creating Futures* is a combined programmatic intervention to reduce intimate partner violence and HIV-risks through peer-led, interactive sessions with young adults in informal settlements. The *Intervention with Microfinance for AIDS and Gender Equity (IMAGE)* study in rural Limpopo combined a microfinance program with a gender and HIV training curriculum. *Men as Partners (MAP)* in Johannesburg provided group education, community workshops, and activities for young men focused on gender equality, heathy relationship dynamics, and HIV/AIDS. *Violence Prevention through Urban Upgrading (VPUU)* is a second generation crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED) intervention that included built environment interventions alongside social programs and community participation initiatives in Khayelitsha, Western Cape.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Please note that an earlier version of this study cited a different figure for intangible costs. The authors updated their methodology and recalculated this figure accordingly to offer a more accurate representation of the intangible costs of violence in South Africa The authors apologise for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the report in any way.

There have also been several important policy developments. The 1996 National Crime Prevention Strategy adopted social crime prevention, which included strategies and measures either carried out by organizations outside the justice system with the aim of reducing risks or, if within the criminal justice system, focused on reducing recidivism by perpetrators. The 2016 White Paper on Safety and Security advocates for a developmental approach to crime prevention and includes aspects of the built environment as an important contributor to improved safety. For intimate partner violence, the 2020 National Strategic Plan (NSP) on Gender-Based Violence and Femicide presents a comprehensive framework for implementation by a range of government departments and draws on extensive evidencebased literature. Unfortunately implementation of other key violence prevention strategies has been less successful. South Africa has an influential domestic alcohol production industry and has struggled to implement progressive alcohol control policies informed by international best practices. Another implementation failure relates to firearm control, which was instrumental in significant reductions in homicide following the adoption of the provisions of the Firearms Control Act (FCA) of 2000. However, poor adherence to the FCA provisions thereafter has prompted a recent surge in firearm homicide.

Finally, despite the limited evidence supporting standalone media campaigns in reducing the interpersonal violence seems sparse, these remain a popular rallying point for activism. This is also the case in SA, where 16 Days of Activism for No Violence against Women and Children Campaign culminates annually with International Human Rights Day (December 10). South Africa's acclaimed primetime educational weekly drama series, *Soul City*, also including domestic violence prevention in its content.

### Recommendations

There is an urgent need to provide financial and technical support for intersectoral collaboration, multilateral research cooperation and research capacity to address violence, which in South Africa imposes a significant threat to development. Key aspects to support this agenda include: an integrated violence prevention approach to prevent violence at a societal level; and research to improve the evidence-base for violence prevention and the quality of future costing studies.

# **1** Introduction

Violence as a health priority impacts low- to middle-income countries (LMICs) disproportionately. These countries experience mortality rates almost 2.5 times that of high-income countries. In addition to the direct effects of death and physical injuries, victims are also susceptible to chronic mental and physical health problems that further compromise their quality of life. Treating health issues caused by violence is expensive and utilizes scarce resources, straining healthcare budgets and compromising the treatment of other conditions while further eroding health and reducing life expectancy.<sup>1</sup> Violence exerts a further social toll through its economic effects on growth and development.<sup>2</sup>

In recognition of the considerable economic burden violence places on already stressed state systems and overall development, violence has been included as an explicit prevention priority across several Sustainable Development Goals. For example, SDG5, which seeks to "achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls," includes targets to eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls, including trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation (Target 5.2). SDG16, which promotes peace, justice, and strong institutions for sustainable development, calls for the reduction of "all forms of violence everywhere" (Target 16.1), and specifically for an end to all forms of violence against children (Target 16.2).<sup>3</sup> Consequently, the Prevention of Violence Unit (PVL) at the World Health Organization (WHO) is located within the organization's Social Determinants of Health Department. While the PVL emphasizes preventing violence against children, the program of work includes several initiatives to address social determinants of health and violence: implementation and enforcement of laws; norms and values; safe environments; and income and economic strengthening.<sup>4</sup>

These strategies have particular relevance for South Africa (SA). The country is among the LMICs most affected by violence. The Global Burden of Disease study indicates that interpersonal violence ranked as the fourth leading cause of death among all injuries worldwide in 2019; in SA, interpersonal violence is the leading cause of injury death, with rates six times global averages.<sup>5,6</sup> SA has among the world's highest rates of genderbased violence, including rape<sup>7,8</sup> and intimate partner violence.<sup>8-10</sup> A number of historical drivers have contributed to this, including colonialism, subsequent apartheid race-based social control policies, civil unrest and armed struggle, and the violent oppression of these social justice movements. Levels of violence immediately post-democracy in 1994 were particularly alarming, with a homicide rate soaring to more than 25,000 murders per annum in the late 1990s. The homicide rate abated following the inception of stricter firearm controls in the early 2000s. However, the social drivers of violence have endured and income inequality, which still largely follows apartheid-era race profiles and geography, has continued to be entrenched. Internationally, urban violence tends to be associated with economic and social deprivation. In SA, democratic elections were followed by rapid urbanization, which in the context of rising inequality increases the risks of violence.<sup>11</sup>

Within this milieu, certain progressive policies have sought to address SA's problem holistically. Examples include the 1996 National Crime Prevention Strategy and the 2020 National Strategic Plan on Gender-Based Violence and Femicide. However, uptake and implementation has been suboptimal, as evinced by increasing homicide rates over the last decade. Violence has arguably become so normalized that the extent of its harm to society is no longer fully recognized, and too little is being done to break the cycle of violence. In this report we challenge these notions by (1) presenting evidence for prevention including examples from SA, and (2) documenting the enormous toll of violence in terms of both its health impact on mortality and morbidity, and its economic cost. In so doing, we illustrate that the costs of prevention are not prohibitive, and emphasize the urgent need to implement effective policies and interventions.

# **2** Prevalence and Drivers of Violence

In this section we describe the prevalence and drivers of violence in South Africa in order to gain a more complete understanding of the nature of violence in the country, how it manifests, and its gendered nature. This provides the key measures and dimensions to inform the costing of violence that follows in Section 3.

In presenting these data we consider the broad definition of violence, which is defined by the WHO as "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against oneself, another person or against a group or community, that either results in or has a high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, maldevelopment or deprivation."<sup>12</sup> The inclusion of the term "power" and suggestion of collective impacts on groups and communities allows us to consider some of the historical and current macrostructural drivers that create the conditions within which violence flourishes. In illustrating the extent of the burden, we focus particularly on some of the more direct and measurable forms of interpersonal violence prevalent in South Africa: physical trauma across age and gender. We also focus on specific forms of violence, namely homicide (murder) and nonfatal injuries (i.e., assaults and intimate partner violence).

Sections 2.1 to 2.3 describe methods to derive core data elements for the economic costing of violence in Section 3. Section 2.1 and 2.2 review the available homicide data and nonfatal injury data. In 2.3 we consider the application of burden of disease metrics, e.g., years of life lost and years lived, with a disability to measure the impact on violence across a broader range of health conditions. In Section 2.4 we provide a summary of the data from the preceding subsections that we then utilize to undertake economic costing of violence. Section 2.5 summarizes some of the major risks for interpersonal violence in South Africa.

As a methodological note, numerical estimates of the prevalence of interpersonal violence have been standardized to 2019 for the annual costing exercise in Section 3. We have considered data for 2022, but these are not widely available across data sources. We have not considered estimates for 2020 and 2021 due to various features of the management of the COVID-19 shutdown in South Africa, particularly prohibitions on the sale of alcohol, which substantially affected the prevalence of violence during this period. We consider 2019 data to be more reflective of typical conditions.

### 2.1 Overview of South African homicide data

Homicide is the most widely used international measure to compare interpersonal violence both across and within countries. Nonfatal events—from injuries through acts of sexual violence, emotional, and psychological abuse—certainly contribute substantially to the disease burden; however, they are considerably more difficult to define and compare consistently across cultures. In contrast, homicides are recorded routinely across several systems: e.g., in police crime statistics, in civil registration and vital statistics, and within health services.<sup>13</sup> These mortality data therefore provide the cornerstone for burden of disease approximation from which nonfatal outcomes can be estimated, as set out in Section 2.3. Nevertheless, limitations and definitional issues pertaining to each data source must be considered. In this section we examine issues pertaining to intentional homicide data from the UNODC dataset utilized by the Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies initiative, hosted at the NYU Center on International Cooperation (hereinafter known as "Pathfinders"), for international benchmarking, and compare these with other available SAn data.

An important limitation of the UNODC (and the police data) is that they are not agestandardized, which limits their comparability with data from populations with different age structures. This applies to comparisons across countries, and in some cases the comparability of data within countries, if there has been irregular mortality in different age categories. This was the case in SA in the 2000s when the HIV/AIDS epidemic caused a major demographic shift, particularly among the young adult age category, which is most affected by violence. The limitation is not easily addressed because the police do not routinely disaggregate homicide data by age.

If we limit our comparison to homicide counts, we note that the UNODC homicide data correspond almost exactly with official police murder statistics, but there is a slight mismatch with the reporting period. The UNODC data report the police data for a calendar year even though they relate to a financial year. For example, the 19,016 intentional homicides reported by the UNODC for 2017 (calendar year) coincide with the 19,016 murders reported by the South African Police Service for the period April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018. This compromises the validity of these estimates against other South African data sources that are delineated by calendar years, and against similar international data. In the sections that follow we apply a crude adjustment by weighting the UNODC data as comprising 3/4 of the deaths for the year specified and 1/4 from the preceding year.

The other widely used data source for mortality reporting is civil registration of vital statistics (CRVS). In South Africa these data are subject to extensive misclassification and are likely to overestimate unintentional injuries and underestimate homicide and suicide, which renders them unsuitable for the monitoring of mortality patterns.<sup>14,15</sup>

To address the shortcomings in police and CRVS homicide data, the SA Medical Research Council (SAMRC) undertakes occasional nationally representative injury mortality surveys. These are based on postmortem investigations at state mortuaries and have been conducted for 2009,<sup>5</sup> 2017,<sup>16</sup> and 2020 to 2021 (forthcoming). As well as providing accurate age and sex disaggregated injury mortality profiles for all causes, which informs the SAMRC's burden of disease estimate work, these surveys provide a useful benchmark against which to measure the accuracy/completeness of police homicide data (Table 1). From our comparison of two data points for 2009 and 2017 (the IMS surveys) against the adjusted UNODC, we observe the following:

- the data are broadly comparable. Even though there is a noticeable difference in estimated homicide counts for 2009 (13 percent), this is considerably smaller than any discrepancy with CRVS data; and
- the very small discrepancy for 2017 (1 percent) may suggest improvement in police reporting. For this reason, using the police data as a basis for extrapolating homicide counts and rates for later years is reasonable. We describe this in detail in Section 2.3.

### Table 1: Comparison of police (UNODC) and mortuary-based survey (IMS) data, 1999-2020

	UNODC <sup>[17]</sup>				IMS <sup>[5,16]</sup>	Percent diff			
				(1)				(2)	(2) / (1)
Year	Male	Female	Person	Adjusted*	Male (95 percent CI)	Female (95 percent CI)	Person (95 percent CI)	Adjusted**	
2008	15538	2546	18084	18163					
2009	14171	2596	16767	17096	16245 (14339, 18151)	2740 (2440, 3041	19028 (16852, 21204)	19336	13%
2010	13151	2742	15893	16112					
2011	13154	2400	15554	15639					
2012			16213	16048					
2013			17023	16821					
2014			17805	17610					
2015			18673	18456					
2016	16377	2639	19016	18930					
2017	17425	2930	20336	20006	16835 (15735, 17936)	2583 (2351, 2814)	19477 (18086, 20750)	20227	1%
2018	18251	2771	21022	20851					
2019	18630	2695	21325	21249					
2020			19972						
2021			24865						

\* Revised totals are calculated by including 3/4 of the count for each calendar year and 1/4 of the count for the preceding year.

\*\* For each IMS survey undetermined/ill-defined causes of injury mortality have been proportionally reallocated to defined injury categories (homicide, suicide, road injury, etc.), as is customary with burden of disease estimation.

For **intimate partner violence**, research in South Africa has focused almost exclusively on the burden born by females. This includes the nationally representative surveys of female homicide in 1999, 2009, 2017,<sup>18,19</sup> and 2020 to 2021 (forthcoming) that distinguished between intimate partner and nonintimate partner violence. These studies were able to explore the victim/perpetrator relationships for female homicide by including information from police investigations. A subsequent study phase following the initial survey was conducted at forensic pathology laboratories (state mortuaries). Intimate partners were the perpetrators of more than half of all female homicides in which the victim/perpetrator relationship was recorded across all study years: 50 percent, 57 percent, and 52 percent in 1999, 2009, and 2017 respectively.<sup>19</sup>

The three female homicide studies report a decreasing trend in age standardized female homicide rates from 24.7 per hundred thousand population in 1999 to 12.9 in 2009, and to 11.2 in 2017. Significant decreases were recorded for both intimate partner and nonintimate partner homicide between 1999 and 2017.<sup>19</sup> This research has been influential in formulating interventions, activism, and policies aimed at reducing gender-based violence, or GBV (see section 4). These actions have been credited with effecting a decrease in female homicide, specifically the share attributable to intimate partners.<sup>19</sup>

For 2017, the SAMRC funded the first study exploring victim/perpetrator relationships and situational contexts of male homicides (forthcoming), which outnumber female homicides by seven to one.<sup>16</sup> Females bear a greater share of the burden of nonfatal outcomes of assaults and intimate partner violence in particular, two categories earmarked in the Pathfinders initiative for international comparison. We explore this in the following section.

### 2.2 Overview of nonfatal data describing interpersonal violence in South Africa

While South Africa does not have routine reliable hospital-based injury surveillance, what data there are confirm that males account for a significantly greater share of **assaults** as measured by cases of physical trauma. This is true among adults at all levels of care in the public sector,<sup>20-22</sup> which accounts for the bulk of the national trauma caseload.<sup>23</sup> For example, in Cape Town's tertiary Groote Schuur Hospital the male/female ratio was 2.5:1,<sup>20</sup> compared to 2.3:1 in selected primary facilities across the city.<sup>22</sup> Among children, a study of patient profiles at Cape Town's Red Cross Children's Hospital over twenty years from 1997 to 2016 found that although boys overall experienced significantly more violence (boy/girl ratio of 1.18 [95 percent CI: 1.13-1.22]), girls younger than seven years experienced significantly more physical trauma than boys. This was attributable to the significantly higher rates of sexual assault of girls in this age category, as with all other age categories, coinciding with the lower rates of sharp and blunt force assault in younger boys.<sup>24</sup> Despite the utility of hospital-based data for describing the profile of injuries, there is as yet no national injury surveillance system to provide these data on an ongoing basis. Currently, the most advanced system is based in the Western Cape province, where the electronic HECTIS health record registry<sup>25</sup> includes an expanding number of sentinel sites.

In addition to hospital and police data on assault, occasional national surveys provide additional perspectives. Examples include the Victims of Crime Survey (VoCS) conducted by Statistics South Africa (StatsSA), and the South Africa Demographic and Health Survey (SADHS) conducted in collaboration with the worldwide Demographic and Health Surveys Program that interviewed adult females in 1998, 2003, and 2016. However, results vary considerably. For example, the latest VoCS<sup>26</sup> reported 355,739 assaults, just 4 percent fewer than the total of 341,828 reported by the police in 2017 and 2018 for the three major police categories for nonfatal assault: attempted murder, common assault, and assault with the intent to cause grievous bodily harm.<sup>27</sup> This suggested an overall assault rate of 635 per 100,000 population, which is considerably higher than figures that were reported in the SADHS just a year previously.<sup>28</sup> One reason for the lower SADHS estimates is that the questionnaire referred specifically to injuries severe enough to require medical attention, a severity threshold not applicable to either the police or the VoCS data. This shortcomingand the utility of health data compared to police data-was recently shown in a matching study that explored trauma cases reported to the police and captured by the health system, replicating the Cardiff model.<sup>29,30</sup> The study found that only 14 percent of records in Cape Town's Khayelitsha health subdistrict could be matched to police records.<sup>31</sup> The implication is that the police record very few of the cases of the more severe forms of trauma that require medical treatment in their crime data.

In addition, the Gallup World Poll provides a resource for international comparison that is widely utilized by international agencies such as UNESCO and Pathfinders. However, we noted considerable variability year-on-year in Gallup surveys, and annual estimates for assaults were higher than from other sources. For example, estimates range from 4.1 percent in 2010 to 20 percent in 2020. Assuming an adult population of 40 million, this equates to between 1.6 and 8 million assaults in these years respectively. Furthermore, no confidence intervals are provided for the point estimates to indicate the level of uncertainty.

Over and above the high rates of intimate femicide described in 2.1, it is widely acknowledged that SA has among the world's highest rates of GBV, including rape<sup>7,8</sup> and intimate partner violence.<sup>8-10</sup> However, there is an absence of routine measures for reliable comparison across settings. For **intimate partner violence**, the Pathfinders initiative draws on the SDG indicators available from the UN database,<sup>3</sup> namely:

# Target 5.2.1. Proportion of ever-partnered women and girls aged 15 years and older subjected to physical, sexual, or psychological violence by a current or former intimate partner in the previous 12 months, by form of violence and by age

For this indicator, a measure of 18.4 percent is provided for 2018 for the whole of Sub-Saharan Africa. The process by which these data are aggregated across the region is unclear, but it seems that they are compiled occasionally by the WHO. National data sources for this target vary from country to country, which immediately limits comparability and complicates the aggregation process. The source indicated in South Africa is the "National Statistics Office," which we understand to be StatsSA. It is not clear whether a national estimate for South Africa is available (which has then informed the Sub-Saharan Africa estimate), nor is it clear which sources might have been used by StatsSA. Nevertheless, it is worthwhile revisiting the VoCS that was carried out by StatsSA in 2018 as a potential data source. The 2017-18 VoCS does not report intimate partner violence *per se*, but it is assumed that these data can be identified among the sexual offences reported in the VoCS. However, there has been considerable variation in the estimated number of sexual offences across VoCS surveys:

- 2017 to 2018 VoCS sexual offences (described as rape, grabbing, or touching without consent) represented 57 percent of the sexual offenses reported to police in that period;<sup>26,27</sup> but previously the
- 2016 to 2017 VoCS reported 140 percent more cases than the police.<sup>32,33</sup>

Although the police data may appear more regular/reliable, it is worth noting that police data have limited utility for pinpointing intimate partner violence. There is no specific crime category for domestic violence, and the police do not publish data recorded in the Domestic Violence Register. Furthermore, crime statistics rely on the reporting of crimes, sexual violence by an intimate partner is typically underreported,<sup>734</sup> and police data on sexual offences, domestic, and intimate partner violence may instead be more reflective of women's access to the criminal justice system.<sup>9</sup> All this aside, if we were to consider all sexual offense cases reported in the 2017 to 2018 VoCS and the police data as intimate partner violence, this would still equate to a twelve-month prevalence of less than 1 percent. The VoCS and police data are both therefore unlikely to inform the SDG Sub-Saharan Africa prevalence estimates for Target 5.2.1.

An alternative data source utilizing StatsSA is the 2016 SADHS, which included a special module on domestic violence and reported a much higher prevalence. Among everpartnered women aged 18-49 years, the 2016 SADHS reported that 2.9 percent had experienced sexual violence by a partner in the past 12 months (and lifetime prevalence of 6.2 percent).<sup>28</sup> The low reported prevalence may be a reflection of the limited suitability of general household surveys for asking sensitive questions about sexual violence. Questionnaire design, fieldworker profiles, and training need to be carefully considered to optimize disclosure in these types of surveys.<sup>35,36</sup> We note that a more specialized survey instrument deployed in South Africa's Gauteng province found that 18.8 percent of women experienced partner rape<sup>7</sup> (lifetime prevalence). Similarly, in Cape Town, perpetration of sexual violence against intimate partners in the past ten years was reported by 15.3 percent of men,<sup>37</sup> which is comparable to the past year's prevalence (ranging from 2.0 to 3.3 percent) reported by women in a three-province study.<sup>34,38</sup> Nevertheless, all these South African sources provide annual prevalence estimates considerably lower than the SDG estimate of 18.4 percent from Sub-Saharan Africa,<sup>3</sup> which seems implausibly high.

In summary, the divergence in assault and intimate partner violence estimates for nonfatal outcomes, the different thresholds and definitions for inclusion, and the erratic timing of surveys makes national-level estimates for these outcomes unreliable. With the Gallup World Poll data utilized by Pathfinders, we were unable to find a country-specific description of the methods employed in South Africa—e.g, the questionnaire, sampling size, sampling frame, sample size realization, details of the fieldwork and interview, interviewer profiles, interviewer training, or definitions for violence categorization—or other factors that could influence the reliability of this instrument. Many of these factors are not specific to Gallup, but pertain to surveys more generally. This is why survey data should typically be subject to further interrogation and meta-analysis, including an independent risk of bias assessment. Such analysis is beyond the scope of the current project. For this reason, we suggest applying more widely-accepted and robust methods to measure the morbidity component for health conditions.

In Section 2.3 we describe the application of the burden of disease research by the SA Medical Research Council for this purpose.

# 2.3 Burden of disease synthesis describing the impact of violence on multiple health outcomes

This section describes the application of burden of disease methods to measure the impact of violence on various health outcomes, by estimating the disability adjusted life years (DALYs) attributable to interpersonal violence.

Burden of disease analysis is an approach to measure population health using a single metric. The DALY is a commonly used summary metric that assesses the impact of diseases and injuries by estimating the difference between a population's actual health and ideal health.<sup>39</sup> The DALY represents a year of healthy life lost due to disease or injury, and is ideal for prioritizing resource allocation,<sup>40</sup> identifying cost-effective interventions,<sup>41</sup> and even estimating the loss of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) from a human capital perspective.<sup>42</sup> The primary objective of this section is to estimate DALYs that can be attributed to interpersonal violence, setting the stage for the subsequent estimation of the financial cost of interpersonal violence in Section 3.

To address the comprehensive scope of interpersonal violence, we included a range of categories covering all forms of child maltreatment (physical, sexual, emotional abuse, neglect, and witnessing family violence), as well as community violence that includes sexual violence by nonpartners and bullying victimization. To estimate the DALY attributable to interpersonal violence requires interpersonal violence to be treated as a risk factor with associated health outcomes. The health outcomes were identified as interpersonal violence injuries, self-harm injuries, intimate femicides, depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, HIV/AIDS, maternal abortion, miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy, and alcohol use disorders, mirroring methods used by Prinsloo et al. (2022).<sup>43</sup> However, the first step is to calculate a DALY for each outcome of interpersonal violence, which is described below.

The calculation of a DALY for any condition is the sum of Years of Life Lost (YLL) due to premature mortality plus Years Lived with Disability (YLD) due to nonfatal health outcomes, weighted according to the severity of the health condition:

DALY = YLL + YLD

The DALY for each outcome of interpersonal violence was estimated by firstly estimating the YLL. The estimates are based on the most recent year of available data sources as described below.

#### Years of Life Lost

The YLL for interpersonal violence and suicide was calculated for 2017 and 2019 using IMS 2017 mortality data.<sup>15</sup> The IMS data was adjusted by proportionally redistributing unknown injuries across all injury categories, including interpersonal violence and suicide. Unknown sex and age were also proportionally redistributed. The 2017 YLLs for interpersonal violence were projected to 2019 by using the percentage change between the SAPS 2017 and 2019 homicide data.<sup>39</sup> SAPS provides annual statistics for the financial year between April 1 and March 30; we therefore used an average weighted by the number of months in the reporting year to estimate SAPS homicide estimates for the 2017 and 2019 calendar years. Suicide was projected to 2019 using the annual percentage change between 2017 and 2019 self-harm estimates from the latest GBD iteration.<sup>44</sup> 2020-21 IMS data are available for analysis, but were impacted by COVID-19 and the resultant lockdown related measures.<sup>24,40,41</sup>

The YLL for all other outcomes for 2017 and 2019 are based on the mortality estimates sourced from the latest GBD 2019.44

The calculation of a YLL requires various value choices; i.e., whether to apply a discounting rate and the level of discounting, which normative life expectancy to use, and whether to apply age weighting. The social value choices used to calculate YLLs were based on the decisions made for the 2nd South African National Burden of Disease Study (SANBD2).<sup>42</sup> In short, the Level 26 of the West model life table was used as the normative standard<sup>43</sup> and discounting was applied at 1.5 percent, while the YLL was not age weighted, as indicated in the formula below.

$$YLL_{as} = \frac{N_{as}}{0.015} x(1 - e^{-0.015L_{as}})$$

where N is the number of deaths at specific age(a) and sex(s), 0.015 is the discounting rate, e is the mathematics constant base to the natural logarithm, and L is the life expectancy at specific age(a) and sex(s)

To complete the calculation of a DALY for the different outcomes of interpersonal violence, a YLD was estimated and summed with the YLL estimates described above.

### Years Lived with Disability

Nonfatal outcomes account for the majority of the global injury burden and need to be included in a burden of disease synthesis to ensure appropriate policy targeting. A global burden of injury study showed an injury rate of 8,718 per 100,000, compared to an estimated mortality rate of 67 per 100,000 population in 2013.<sup>44</sup>

As previously discussed, local nonfatal outcomes for interpersonal violence are sparse and unreliable and do not provide the detail required to estimate YLDs. The estimation of a YLD is challenging and requires information on incidence or prevalence of the nature of injury, such as fractures, muscle or tendon injuries, and the severity of the injury. Therefore, a YLD calculation requires the epidemiology of each disease or injury and its sequelae, in addition to the severity distribution and its different values, which is further complicated by comorbidities.<sup>45</sup>

The calculation of a YLD is a 2-step process.<sup>45</sup> First, a YLD is calculated for each nature of injury related to a specific cause as indicated in the formula below.

YLD<sub>nature</sub> = Incidence<sub>nature</sub> x Duration<sub>nature</sub> x Disability weight<sub>nature</sub>

Second, the YLD for each nature of injury is added together to calculate the YLD for a specific cause and case as indicated in the formula below.

To calculate a YLD for interpersonal violence thus requires information on the various categories related to each case of interpersonal violence. Information on nonfatal injuries both by cause and nature of injury are not commonly recorded in the South African setting. Estimates on nonfatal health outcomes such as the prevalence of common assault and intimate partner violence as discussed in Section 2.2 are available, but lack information on the nature of injuries, which precludes the calculation of a YLD.

Given the relative reliability of homicide data, we make the case that YLD for interpersonal violence can reasonably be estimated by assuming a ratio of nonfatal outcomes for every fatal outcome. The YLD/YLL ratio method is commonly used to estimate YLDs in countries where data on disease sequalae are absent.<sup>46,47</sup> For example, the SANBD study estimated YLDs for 140 health conditions including interpersonal violence by applying YLD/YLL ratios from the GBD 2010 study representative of SA to SA YLLs,<sup>45</sup> illustrated by the following relationship:

$$YLD_{SA} = YLL_{SA} X \frac{YLD_{GBD}}{YLL_{GBD}}$$

YLDs for interpersonal violence and suicide were similarly calculated by applying the interpersonal violence and suicide ratios from the SANBD study to the 2017 and 2019 YLLs. For all other outcomes of interpersonal violence, the YLDs were sourced from the GBD 2019 study for 2017 and 2019, respectively. The YLLs and YLDs for all interpersonal violence health outcomes were summed to calculate a DALY, which were used to calculate the DALY attributable to interpersonal violence as described below.

### Attributable burden

The DALYs attributable to interpersonal violence for 2017 and 2019 were calculated by using the method of a recent comparative risk assessment (CRA) study for South Africa.<sup>46</sup> This method determines the population attributable fraction (PAF) for interpersonal violence, which requires inputs on the prevalence rates of different forms of interpersonal violence, the relative risks (RRs) of developing an associated health outcome, and the theoretical minimum risk exposure level of the different forms of interpersonal violence. Prevalence estimates associated with each outcome were taken directly from the Prinsloo et al. 2022 CRA study. The attributable burden of each health outcome of interpersonal violence was calculated by multiplying the PAF with deaths, YLLs, YLDs, and DALYs by age, sex, and year category. It is important to note that exposure estimates applied by Prinsloo et al. were derived from a meta-regression of all suitable estimates following rigorous quality and risk-of-bias assessment for all relevant survey data.<sup>48</sup> The exposure to intimate partner violence (female

victims only) and community violence (equivalent to assault in Section 2.2) was sourced from the Gauteng GBV study<sup>7</sup> and community violence among children from the Optimus Study.<sup>49,50</sup>

Table 2 shows the deaths, YLLs, YLDs, and DALYs attributable to interpersonal violence, sorted by health outcome, year, and sex. In 2012, interpersonal violence (including the direct injury burden from interpersonal violence, as well as mental, behavioral, and reproductive health, HIV/AIDS, and self-harm injury consequences) accounted for an estimated 1.75 million DALYs. For 2017, this increased to 1.9 million DALYs and decreased thereafter to 1.85 million DALYs by 2019.

	Males			Females				Persons							
	AF, percent	Deaths, n	DALYS, n	YLDs, n	YLLs, n	AF, percent	Deaths, n	DALYS, n	YLDs, n	YLLs, n	AF, percent	Deaths, n	DALYS, n	YLDs, n	YLLs, n
2012*															
Interpersonal violence injuries**	100	15 854	556802	26888	529914	100	1416	54445	11301	43144	100	17269	611248	38189	573058
Self-narm injuries	34 N/A	1719  N/A	100000	014  N/A	56041 N/A	5/	1472	51030	0	51030	54	1472	51030	885	51030
Depressive disorders	53	0	79067	79067	0	65	0	204345	204345	0	61	0	283412	283412	0
Anxiety disorders	70	0	56794	56794	0	71	0	93899	93899	0	70	0	150693	150693	0
HIV/AIDS	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	21	15585	578734	66492	512242	21	15585	578734	66492	512242
Maternal abortion, miscarriage,	i i	İ	İ.	İ	Ì	İ	İ	İ	ĺ	İ	İ.	İ	İ	ĺ	İ
and ectopic pregnancy	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	14	16	602	1	601	14	16	602	1	601
Alcohol use disorders	5	16	984	639	345	33	35	2308	1506	802	13	51	3292	2145	1146
Total attributable burden	0	17590	750302	164002	586300		19113	1006567	377816	628751		36703	1756869	541818	1215051
2017***															
Interpersonal violence injuries**	100	17991	629892	29556	600336	100	1384	52418	10260	42158	100	19374	682310	39816	642494
Self-harm injuries	34	1775	57784	647	57137	54	683	23087	362	22725	38	2457	80871	1009	79862
Intimate femicides	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	55	1493	52250	0	52250	55	1493	52250	0	52250
Depressive disorders	55	0	64381	64381	0	66	0	141249	141249	0	62	0	205631	205631	0
Anxiety disorders	/3	0	5/39/	5/39/	0	//	0	866/5	866/5	0	/2	0	144072	144072	0
HIV/AIDS	N/A	IN/A	N/A	IN/A	N/A	22	18978	/24918	1068/0	018049	22	18978	/24918	106870	018049
and ectopic preanancy	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	14	5	264	75	189	14	5	264	75	189
Alcohol use disorders	7	29	6298	5648	650	37	43	7104	6144	960	12	73	13402	11792	1610
Total attributable burden	Í.	i		İ	İ	İ				İ		İ	İ		ĺ
		19794	815752	157630	658123		22587	1087966	351635	736331	Total	42381	1903718	509264	1394454
2019****															
Interpersonal violence injuries**	100	19065	667569	31306	636264	100	1463	55435	10858	44577	100	20529	723004	42163	680841
Self-harm injuries	34	1853	60340	675	59665	54	713	24097	378	23720	38	2566	84437	1053	83384
Intimate femicides	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	55	1580	55301	0	55301	55	1580	55301	0	55301
Depressive disorders	55	0	65762	65762	0	66	0	142152	142152	0	62	0	207914	207914	0
Anxiety disorders	73	0	58816	58816	0	71	0	87662	87662	0	72	0	146478	146478	0
HIV/AIDS	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	22	15984	620359	104901	515459	22	15984	620359	104901	515459
Maternal abortion, miscarriage,	NI/A		NI/A	NI/A	NI/A	14		252	74	270	14		252	74	270
Alcohol use disorders	TN/A	111/A 20	1N/A	11N/A	1N/A	27	0	7212	4270	024	12	70	12070	12255	1415
Total attributable burden	/	27	0057	37/0	001	5/	41	/312	03/8	734	12	/0	137/0	12335	1015
		20948	859144	162535	696609		19788	992670	352402	640268	Total	40736	1851814	514937	1336877

### Table 2: Attributable burden of interpersonal violence for various outcomes in South Africa for males and females measured in DALYs, YLLs and YLDs for 2012, 2017, and 2019

\* 2012 estimates are sourced directly from Prinsloo et al. (2022)<sup>46</sup>

\*\* As per Prinsloo et al. (2022): "Interpersonal violence injuries" are unspecified community and family interpersonal violence injuries categorically attributable to interpersonal violence as a risk factor. Please note that in this table the interpersonal violence injuries plus intimate femicides need to be added to match the total interpersonal violence injury category estimates in the South African National Burden of Disease studies for 2000, 2006 and 2012.<sup>46</sup>

\*\*\* 2017 death estimates for interpersonal violence and self-harm are derived directly from Prinsloo et al. (2021) adjusted for undetermined injuries. Intimate femicides were calculated as the PAF of femicides multiplied by all female homicides using the 2012 method.<sup>15</sup> All other outcomes were sourced from the GBD 2019 study.<sup>[47]</sup>

\*\*\*\* 2019 death estimates for interpersonal violence are derived from the increase in the SAPS murder rate between 2017 and 2019 and applied to the 2017 death estimates for interpersonal violence from Prinsloo et al. (2021).<sup>15</sup> Self harm are derived from the increase in GBD 2019 self-harm estimates between 2017 and 2019 applied to IMS 2017. For intimate femicides we replicated the method described for the 2017 analysis. All other conditions were sourced from the GBD 2019.<sup>47</sup>

Interpersonal violence injuries for males (directly attributable to interpersonal violence as a risk factor) were ~13 times higher than for females in 2019. The self-harm injury burden attributable to interpersonal violence for males was 2.6-2.9 times higher than for females

between 2012 and 2019. DALYs attributable to depressive disorders and anxiety disorders were respectively 2.6 and 1.5 times higher for females across the three time periods. DALYs attributable to alcohol use disorders were 2.1 and 3.3 times higher for females in 2012 and 2019, respectively.

As discussed in Section 2.1, intimate partner violence accounts for just over half of all femicides. This provides some guidance regarding the likely attributable fraction of interpersonal violence for women associated with intimate partner violence. At present, no estimate is available of the attributable fraction from this cause for males. Table 3 illustrates where interpersonal violence ranks in comparison to other major risks. According to the SANBD study,<sup>51</sup> interpersonal violence ranked second among the major risk factors for South Africa in 2012, but only contributed to 8.5 percent of the DALY burden. The proportion of DALYs attributable to interpersonal violence were three times lower than unsafe sex, which was the leading risk factor.<sup>51</sup>

Rank	Risk factor	% total DALYs
1	Unsafe sex	26.6
2	Interpersonal violence	8.5
3	High body mass index	6.9
4	High systolic blood pressure	5.8
5	Alcohol	5.6
6	High fasting plasma glucose	4.7
7	Tobacco smoking	3.6
8	Childhood undernutrition	2.6
9	Water, sanitation, and hygiene	2.4
10	Ambient air: PM2.5	2.4
11	Low fruit intake	1.9
12	High LDL cholesterol	1.3
13	Iron deficiency	1.2
14	Low physical activity	1.1
15	Household air pollution	1.0
16	Low vegetable intake	0.9
17	High sodium intake	0.7
18	Ambient air: ozone	0.3

Table 3: Proportion of DALYs attributable to the leading risk factors in South Afri	ica
for 2012	

Source: Bradshaw et al., 2022<sup>51</sup>

In summary, the attributable burden of interpersonal violence is relatively high, and while the burden is notably higher in males owing to the direct impact of interpersonal violence injuries, the burden of other health outcomes associated with interpersonal violence (e.g., anxiety disorders, depressive disorders, and alcohol use disorders) are more pronounced in females. This underscores the need for a comprehensive analysis of interpersonal violence that encompasses diverse health outcomes for a more nuanced understanding. In Section 3, the DALYs attributable to the different outcomes associated with interpersonal violence will be used to analyze the financial cost involved for each health outcome.<sup>47</sup>

### 2.4 Summary of violence prevalence measures

This section provides a summary (Table 4) of key prevalence data discussed and derived from Sections 2.1 to 2.3 that we apply in the economic costing in Section 3.

Description	Year	Measure	Source
Total homicides	2019	20529	Own calculations (2.1, 2.3)
Male homicides	2019	19065	
Female homicides	2019	1463	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths) Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths)	2019 2019	40763 20948	Own calculations (2.3)
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths)	2019	19788	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS) Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS)	2019 2019	1851814 859144	Own calculations (2.3)
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS)	2019	992670	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs) Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs)	2019 2019	1336877 696609	Own calculations (2.3)
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs)	2019	640268	
Total homicides Male homicides	2012 2012	17629 15854	Prinsloo et al., 2022
Female homicides	2012	1416	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths) Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths)	2012 2012	36703 17590	Prinsloo et al., 2022
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (deaths)	2012	19113	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS) Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS)	2012 2012	1756869 750302	Prinsloo et al., 2022
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (DALYS)	2012	1006567	
Total burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs)	2012	1215051	Prinsloo et al., 2022
Male burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs)	2012	586300	
Female burden attributable to interpersonal violence (YLLs)	2012	628/51	
Prevalence of all forms of child maltreatment, ever (males), by aged 15-19	2012, 2017, 2019	40.1	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Artz et al., 2016
Prevalence of all forms of child maltreatment, ever (females), by aged 15-19	2012, 2017, 2019	51.6	
Prevalence of bullying victimization (males) in the past 12	2012, 2017, 2019	14.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Artz et al, 2016;
Prevalence of bullying victimization (females) in the past 12 months by aged 15-19	2012, 2017, 2019	18.3	StatsSA 2007; StatsSA 2007; and StatsSA 2012.
Prevalence of intimate partner violence (physical or sexual), ever (females) aged 15-19	2012, 2017, 2019	24.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al., 2011
" " " (females) aged 20-24_		35.0	
" " " (females) aged 25-29		42.0	
" " " (females) aged 30-34		37.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		44.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		38.0	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		44.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		36.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		27.0	

Prevalence of intimate partner violence (physical or sexual), in the past 12 months (females) aged 15-19 " " " (females) aged 20-24_	2012, 2017, 2019	12.0 18.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al, 2011
" " " (females) aged 25-29		18.0	
" " " (females) aged 30-34		15.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		19.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		13.0	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		8.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		17.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		1.0	
Prevalence of sexual violence by non-partners, ever (females)	2012, 2017, 2019	8.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al.
aged 15-19			2011
" " " (females) aged 20-24		21.0	
" " " (females) aged 25-29		17.0	
" " " (females) aged 30-34		3.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		14.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		11.0	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		17.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		13.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		6.0	
Prevalence of community violence victimization, ever (males)	2012, 2017, 2019	24.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Artz et al,. 2016
Prevalence of community violence victimization, ever (females) aged 15-19		19.0	
Prevalence of other community violence: witnessed murder of	2012, 2017, 2019	27.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al.,
a stranger, ever (males) aged 20-24 " " " (males) aged 25-29		56.0	2011
" " " (males) aged 30-34		33.0	
" " " (males) aged 35-39		31.0	
" " " (males) aged 40-44		43.0	
" " " (males) aged 45-49		31.0	
" " " (males) aged 50-54		24.0	
" " " (males) aged 55-59		30.0	
Prevalence of other community violence: witnessed murder of a stranger, ever (females) aged 20-24	2012, 2017, 2019	7.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al., 2011
" " " (females) aged 25-29		10.0	
" " (females) aged 30-34		6.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		14.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		70	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		15.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		10.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		10.0	
Prevalence of other community violence: witnessed murder of	2012 2017 2019	27.0	Prinsloo et al. 2022: Machisa et al
family/friend, ever (males) aged 20-24	2012, 2017, 2017	27.0	2011
" " " (males) aged 25-29		32.0	
" " " (males) aged 30-34		31.0	
" " " (males) aged 35-39		31.0	
" " " (males) aged 40-44		20.0	
" " " (males) aged 45-49		22.0	
" " " (males) aged 50-54		24.0	
" " " (males) aged 55-59		26.0	

Description	Year	Measure	Source
Prevalence of other community violence: witnessed murder of family/friend, ever (females) aged 20-24	2012, 2017, 2019	18.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al., 2011
(Temales) aged 20-24		13.0	
(females) aged 30-34		17.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		15.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		7.0	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		28.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		23.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		13.0	
Prevalence of other community violence: carjacked/ kidnapped/robbed, ever (males) aged 20-24	2012, 2017, 2019	42.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al., 2011
(indies) aged 20-27		40.0	
		51.0	
" " (males) aged 35-39		51.0	
" " " (males) aged 40-44		47.0	
" " " (males) aged 45-49		47.0	
" " " (males) aged 50-54		59.0	
" " " (males) aged 55-59		48.0	
Prevalence of other community violence: carjacked/ kidnapped/robbed, ever (females)	2012, 2017, 2019	33.0	Prinsloo et al., 2022; Machisa et al., 2011
" " " (females) aged 25-29		25.0	
" " " (females) aged 30-34		14.0	
" " " (females) aged 35-39		20.0	
" " " (females) aged 40-44		20.0	
" " " (females) aged 45-49		13.0	
" " " (females) aged 50-54		18.0	
" " " (females) aged 55-59		13.0	

### 2.5 Risk factors for interpersonal violence in South Africa

This section provides a brief summary of key risk factors for interpersonal violence in South Africa. We note that SA presents a wide range of risk factors that have been set out according to an ecological framework in several previous texts.<sup>52-54</sup> We do not replicate this body of knowledge exhaustively here, but instead identify several key factors and interactions between them which are particularly influential. Ward et al. (2012) describe individual risks including biological factors that are shaped by microsystems in which daily interactions with family members and peers shape behaviour.<sup>52</sup> These interactions are influenced by exosystems that affect the lives of families, neighborhoods, extended family systems, and communities. Exosystems are in turn influenced by the macrosystem comprising policies, the economy, norms, ideologies, and global changes.

We believe it is this confluence of risks that drives the high rates of violence in SA, rather than any unique risk factor. Many of these risks developed from historical social drivers of SA's colonial and apartheid past. For example, age and sex are among the individual factors that affect the risk of aggression and exposure to violence. The risk of experiencing violence peaks among young adults—particularly males for physical violence and females for sexual violence. This is not unique to SA, but the demographic structure of SAn cities, with their high concentration of youths and young adults, amplifies this risk at the population level. Furthermore, child development is compromised by a high prevalence of malnutrition *in utero*, as well as early childhood neuropsychological deficits—SA has among the highest rates of fetal alcohol syndrome in the world—and exposure to domestic violence and child abuse, all of which increase the risk of delinquent behavior.

While the complex interrelatedness between risk factors hampers determination of causal inference and evaluation of interventions, it is important to recognize and prioritize interventions that target upstream/distal societal risks further up the causal chain. These can include factors like employment, poverty and income inequality, and access to housing, education and other public infrastructure. Such considerations provide the context that enables or inhibits interpersonal violence. Addressing these upstream risks is consistent with broader priorities and the recommendations of the Commission on the Social Determinants of Health.<sup>55</sup>

SA is among the most unequal countries in the world,<sup>56</sup> a condition resulting from legacies of systemic violence in the country's postcolonial past and recent history of racial segregation. Entrenched inequalities have been further solidified by high rates of legal and illegal firearm ownership, high rates of incarceration, and the normalization of violence in civil unrest and political protest. Rapid social change also predicts violence, and in SA rapid urbanization has led to the development of large urban slums with poor physical and social infrastructure. Social cohesion is also undermined in low income neighborhoods through easy access to cheap alcohol,<sup>57</sup> which is compounded by prevailing gender norms and patriarchal masculinity. Furthermore, the considerable impact of violence on both health and development in low income contexts serves to compound inequality that, in South Africa, undermines recent attempts to mitigate the impacts of apartheid and colonialism.<sup>1,58</sup>

# **3 Cost of Violence**

The following estimates of the cost of violence in South Africa are expressed on an annual basis in South African rand, to facilitate comparison to gross domestic product. At the time of writing, the exchange rate with the US dollar was approximately ZAR 19.30 to USD 1. USD estimates will be standarized to that rate. Older cost estimates will also be adjusted for inflation to 2019 levels using Consumer Price inflation indexes as produced by Statistics South Africa. As much as possible, estimates will distinguish between costs associated with homicide, assault, and intimate partner violence. Only interpersonal violence is considered.

### 3.1 Tangible costs

The first category of costs of violence considered is tangible costs, defined here as being financial in nature, as compared to the intangible costs of trauma and psychological injury. In other words, the effects measured have real monetary impact, either on the victim or on wider society, and thus have a direct economic impact.

Tangible costs are typically orders of magnitude smaller than intangible costs. Hoeffler (2017) suggests that the ratio of intangible to tangible costs per homicide, for example, is typically around 9:1.<sup>59</sup> Nevertheless, these costs of violence have a direct impact on economic outcomes, and are thus often of particular concern to policymakers. We will distinguish between two categories of tangible costs. First order tangible costs are those which arise immediately and directly as a result of a violent incident: the losses are incurred to society or the victim in the days and weeks after violence takes place. Second order costs are experienced further in time from a violent incident, in the months and years that follow. These effects may not be directly attributable to a specific incident, and can instead reflect the accumulation of multiple incidents of exposure to violence.

### 3.1.1 First order tangible costs

While not every incident of violence is immediately associated with tangible economic costs, more severe episodes often are. Two sources of first order tangible costs are considered: the healthcare costs incurred by victims, and criminal justice system costs associated with reporting and prosecuting a specific incident. Other first order tangible costs, such as earnings interruptions experienced by victims, are not estimated due to lack of data and are likely to also be material. The focus here is on immediate costs directly associated with specific incidents of violence.

#### Healthcare costs

Some estimates are available of the per-incident healthcare costs associated with incidents of interpersonal violence. For example, a 2008 study of the costs experienced by women subject to violence in the Chatsworth area found associated medical costs per incident of ZAR 204 (approximately USD 22 in 2023, adjusted for inflation and exchange rate depreciation). However, per-incident medical costs are highly variable depending on the severity of the assault, making it impossible to do a bottom-up extrapolation from these limited datapoints into a wider estimate of total healthcare costs associated with violence.

Instead, we adopt a top-down method, following the approach used by Truen et al. (2011),<sup>60</sup> which in turn was based on research conducted by Budlender (2009).<sup>61</sup> This method begins by deriving an estimate of the attributable fraction of healthcare DALYs caused by interpersonal violence. This is then used as a proxy for the proportion of total healthcare costs associated with interpersonal violence. The interpersonal violence attributable fraction is calculated based on the 2012 SANBD study, as per the analysis of Pillay-van Wyk et al. (2016),<sup>6</sup> and the interpersonal violence attributable burden as calculated above. As shown in Table 5, the total interpersonal violence attributable fraction of all YLLs in 2012 was 12.1 percent, and of deaths was 6.9 percent.

	Ма	ales	Fei	males	Persons		
	Deaths	YLLs	Deaths	YLLs	Deaths	YLLs	
Total, 2012 *	276,378	5,345,922	252,568	4,686,966	528,947	10,032,887	
Interpersonal violence, 2012	17,590	586,300	19,113	628,751	36,703	1,215,051	
Interpersonal violence attributable fraction	6,4%	11,0%	7,6%	13,4%	6,9%	12,1%	

Table 5: 2012 total deaths and YLLs and interpersonal violence attributable fraction

Source: Pillay-van Wyk et al., 2016<sup>[6]</sup>

It is unclear whether the attributable fraction associated with deaths or YLLs is more appropriate. As deaths from interpersonal violence tend to occur at a younger average age than those from other causes, total YLLs will include a large number of YLLs lost to premature mortality, which do not cause healthcare costs, suggesting that using the YLL fraction may result in cost overestimation. However, interpersonal violence causing disability in the young will generate substantial lifetime healthcare costs, which suggests that using the deaths fraction could underestimate these costs. We therefore proceed by averaging the deaths and YLL fractions, suggesting that 9.5 percent of total healthcare costs are attributable to interpersonal violence. Unfortunately, we did not find estimates of total system healthcare costs for interpersonal violence, and thus it was not possible to calculate healthcare costs per outcome.

The resulting estimate of interpersonal violence healthcare costs is shown in Table 6. As can be seen, total income in the health and social work sector in 2018 was ZAR 165 billion, and thus a 9.5 percent interpersonal violence attributable fraction of total economic activity in the sector amounts to ZAR 15.7 billion. Government healthcare expenditures comprised a total of ZAR 47 billion in 2018-19, of which ZAR 4.5 billion is thus estimated to be attributable to interpersonal violence. This equates to 0.4 percent of final consumption expenditure by general government in 2019.

	Total, 2018 ZAR m	Interpersonal violence attributable, 2018 ZAR m	Cost of violence, percentage of 2019 GDP
Public health expenditure 2018/19 *	47,008	4,477,400	0.08%
Health and social work sector, total income 2018 **	164,696	15,686,900	0.28%

#### Table 6: Total, public sector and interpersonal violence healthcare expenditures, 2018/19

\* Total public health expenditure is as per National Treasury (2019)

\*\* Health and social work total income is as per Stats SA (2020)

#### Criminal justice system

Interpersonal violence frequently results in increased costs for the criminal justice system. These costs are somewhat different in nature to violence-related healthcare costs, however, because criminal justice is also an intervention aimed at reducing future violence. To the extent that there is a deterrence effect from prosecution, and that incarceration of perpetrators reduces their ability to commit further acts of violence, criminal justice system costs are both a direct cost associated with interpersonal violence, and an intervention against it.

Evaluating these costs is complicated by the fact that the justice system includes a number of activities which do not address violent crime. Nonviolent property crimes, for example, should not be included in the evaluation of the cost of violence. Altbeker (2005) points out that justice system expenditures in South Africa also include activities related to the administration of trusts, handling deceased estates, insolvency cases, etc.<sup>62</sup>

One way of attempting to deal with this complexity is to isolate components of the justice system which are specifically related to interpersonal violence, and calculate total costs from the bottom up. For example, KPMG (2016) evaluate the cost to the state of violence against women and children by examining state budget allocations to VAWC (violence against women and children) programs, distinguishing between programs which directly or indirectly address VAWC. They acknowledge that "not all of the programmes identified address VAW or VAC exclusively," and that this approach will thus tend to overestimate total spending (which is at least partially offset by the fact that no specific VAWC costs are identified in the correctional services system). They find expenditure on direct VAWC programs in the 2014-15 year of ZAR 26.9 billion, and a further ZAR 34.2 billion on indirect programs.<sup>63</sup>

Thorpe (2015) undertakes a much more conservative exercise, attempting to isolate direct costs to the state to a significant degree of granularity. She finds that the state spent at least ZAR 310 million during the 2013-14 financial years on services to victims of GBV, although she notes that this is likely to be an underestimate of total costs.<sup>64</sup> In practice, specific spending items in criminal justice are unlikely to be either entirely associated with interpersonal violence, or entirely separate from it. For example, a fingerprint database will be used to identify perpetrators of violent and nonviolent crimes, and crimes such as burglary may be principally property crimes, but will also frequently be characterized by

violence. Conversely, a sexual assault can also involve elements of property crime. A bottomup estimation approach which attempts to isolate specific interpersonal violence spending items is thus likely to systematically underestimate the total cost, not least because it is unlikely to account for the system's overhead costs; i.e., managing the resources which are used to address violent crime. An alternative way of evaluating criminal justice costs would be to take a top down approach, and estimate the proportion of criminal justice expenditures which are associated with violence. Unfortunately there is no present methodology to do so. Further research in this area may be needed.

We take the KPMG (2016) estimate of direct costs only as a starting point for estimating the cost of violence in the criminal justice system. This only estimates VAWC costs, however, not correctional system costs, nor does it pro rata the proportion of each budget line item for VAWC. The result is an extremely rough and unsatisfactory estimate of total interpersonal violence costs. Nevertheless, total direct expenditures of ZAR 26.9 billion in the 2014-15 financial year was equivalent to 10.0 percent of the estimated expenditure of the departments involved (Departments of Social Development, Health,<sup>1</sup> Justice and Constitutional Development, Basic Education, Women, and the South African Police Service).<sup>2</sup> Ten percent of the expenditure of these departments in 2018-19 is equivalent to ZAR 35.1 billion, which comprises 3.2 percent of final consumption expenditure by general government and 0.6 percent of 2019 GDP.

The estimated first order tangible costs of violence are summarized in the table below.

Table 7. First orde	r tangible costs
---------------------	------------------

	2019 cost estimate			
Healthcare costs	ZAR 15,687	0.3%		
Criminal justice system	ZAR 35,175	0.6%		

### 3.1.2 Second order tangible costs

Violence can have a profound effect on the ability of individuals to utilize the economic opportunities around them. Long after the immediate impact of a specific violent event has passed, its economic effects can still linger, having a tangible economic impact that is nevertheless quite distant in time from the event or events which caused it.

The results of the Victims of Crime survey of approximately 30,000 South African households illustrates these kinds of tangible behavioural impacts of the fear of crime and violence. As shown in Table 8 below, around one in ten households are impacted by the fear of crime when taking part in basic economic activities such as starting a home business, walking to work, or using public transport.

<sup>1</sup> Health expenditures in this category include only community based services, and thus there is no double counting as regards the previous estimate of health system expenditures.

<sup>2</sup> Data from the Estimates of National Expenditure released by National Treasury, by national vote. https://www.treasury.gov.za/documents/nationalpercent20budget/default.aspx

Activities affected by crime	Female	CV%	Male	CV%
Walking to work/town	12.9	4.0	12.4	3.7
Walking to the shops	11.9	4.1	10.4	3.8
Using public transport	11.3	4.3	10.5	3.8
Investing/starting a home business	11.2	4.6	9.3	4.3

Table 8. Percentage of households prevented from partaking in activities due to fear of crime

Source: Statistics South Africa (2018)65

Despite high levels of unemployment in South Africa, the amount of activity in the informal sector remains relatively low. Gandhi, Kingdon, and Knight (2001) believe that this is a result of barriers to entry in informal employment markets, and suggest that high levels of violence and insecurity in the informal sector may contribute to such barriers.<sup>66</sup> Lund (1998) synthesizes several pieces of research on the problems faced by street traders and finds that crime and violence are frequently cited as their largest single issue, and that the burden on women street traders is larger than it is for men.<sup>67</sup> Gough et al. (2003) conducted research on informal homebased enterprises (HBEs) in low-income areas in South Africa and Ghana, and found that in Ghana "at no point was the fear of crime mentioned as a factor affecting the operation of the HBEs studied," whereas in South Africa, crime heavily affected business operations.<sup>68</sup> For example, crime often influenced South African business owners' decision to close before dark, whereas in Ghana, many of the HBEs experienced the greatest level of activity after dark. South African respondents felt that having an HBE attracted criminal activity, and might close a business if their profits were insufficient to justify the increased risk.

While the effect of violent crime on businesses may be proportionally higher for informal businesses, it is also likely to impact the formal sector. In a World Bank assessment of the South African investment climate, Ramachandran et al (2007) characterize South Africa as "representative of countries where crime and security may be considered an important, though not critical, problem." Around 30percent of South African firms surveyed felt security issues were a major or severe obstacle to doing business, significantly lower than in many Latin American countries (40-80percent), but substantially higher than the rate in most middle income countries, of around 10-20percent.<sup>[69]</sup>

Crime and its associated violence also affects the cost of doing business through the resultant increase in private expenditures on security. We found no reliable estimates of the total value of the private security industry in South Africa. However, as of the end of March, 2022, the total number of registered active security officers was 586,042 (Private Security Industry Regulatory Authority Annual Report, 2021-22). The average minimum monthly wage per security officer in 2022 was approximately ZAR 5,300, as per the sectoral minimum wage determination for the security industry.<sup>70</sup> Assuming 500,000 security officers employed for twelve months at that wage, we estimate that the total 2022 wage expenditure on private security guards was approximately ZAR 31.8 billion. This excludes costs for administrative and management staff, facilities and equipment costs, and other overheads.

Even if a comprehensive estimate of the private security industry was available, there would still be no way to estimate the proportion of that expenditure attributable to prevention or deterrence of interpersonal violence. Further research would be needed into the motivations behind those businesses or households purchasing security services.

A number of studies have examined the impact of violence on educational attainment in South Africa. A longitudinal study by Sherr et al. (2015) focused on persistence in education in primary school-aged children in South Africa and Malawi, finding that where children are exposed to psychological violence, they were more than ten times as likely to have dropped out, and that exposure to physical violence reduced grade progression.<sup>71</sup> Barbarin et al. (2001) examined the impact of family violence on a sample of South African six year olds, and found that it reduced academic motivation, while increasing measures of aggression, oppositional behaviour, and attention problems, which might then in turn affect educational outcomes.<sup>72</sup> Pieterse (2015) used a sample of children in Cape Town and found that childhood maltreatment reduces numeracy test scores and increases likelihood of dropout, with a dose effect associated with increased exposure to maltreatment.<sup>73</sup> Romero (2018) considered the impact of exposure of South African adolescents to six different forms of violence, and found that more frequent exposure to more forms of violence increased the risk of school delay. More recently, Lee and Rudolf (2022) considered the impact of schoolrelated GBV on absenteeism across fourteen Southern African countries, including South Africa. Their findings indicate that the likelihood of absenteeism in a given month rises by 3.3 percent when a school "sometimes" has problems with teacher-to-learner harassment, and by 5.6 percent when that harassment occurs "often."74

Fang et al. (2017) undertook a systematic review of the consequences of violence against South African children and estimated that 2.3 million DALYs were lost to nonfatal violence in 2015, with the largest impacts being associated with violence around HIV prevalence and alcohol abuse.<sup>75</sup> Valuing DALYs at average GDP per capita, they estimated the total associated economic loss at ZAR 166 billion. Fatal violence against children contributed another 84,287 DALYs and ZAR 6.2 billion in economic loss. Total losses equated to 4.3 percent of 2015 GDP. Fang et al also examined the impact of physical and emotional violence on children's earning potential, estimating an 11.7 percent and 9.2 percent respective reduction in victim earnings. The proposed causal mechanisms were unclear, but are likely to include the educational impacts described above. The total economic losses associated with decreased earnings were estimated at ZAR 34.8 billion in 2015, which equates to ZAR 42.3 billion in 2019, or 0.8 percent of 2019 GDP.

No research appears to have been conducted on the cumulative impact of violence on educational outcomes in the South African context. Research from Italy is, however, suggestive. Caglayan et al. (2021) researched the impact of a forced resettlement of convicted criminals from southern Italy with suspected Mafia ties to northern Italy from the mid 1950s to early 1980s. This forced migration resulted in an increase in levels of criminal activity in northern Italy. The authors found that "for the top 75% of mafia-infiltrated provinces, a reduction by 25 percentiles in their position within the mafia ranking could increase the number of university graduates per capita by 4-21%."<sup>76</sup> Violence therefore has an impact on human capital formation for South African children. For individuals who do succeed educationally, a small body of research also suggests violence as a subsequent factor that can contribute to emigration. For example, Ferreira and Carbonatto (2020) surveyed parents of South African emigrants (n=24) and found that concerns over violent crime were a key reason for leaving. A survey of South Africans living in Australia (Brink, 2012, n=48) found that 73 percent were dissatisfied with the level of personal and family safety in their home country.<sup>77</sup>

Halstein (2021) points out that South Africa tends to receive significantly fewer skilled migrants than it loses to emigration, and UNDESA estimates the stock of emigrant South Africans at 914,901 individuals in 2020.<sup>78</sup> Economic modelling exercises by Halstein (2021) and Bohlmann (2010) both found a negative impact from skilled emigration on South African GDP growth, although Halstein found that the emigration may be offset by remittances and skills support subsidies.<sup>78,79</sup>

The tangible costs of violence are significantly affected by gender-based patterns of violence in South African society. One study estimated that in 2012-13, the cost of gender-based violence alone amounted to between 0.9 percent and 1.3 percent of GDP,<sup>80</sup> which is in line with other international estimates.<sup>81</sup> While it is clear that exposure to violence affects economic outcomes for victims, Reeves and O'Leary-Kelly (2007) suggest that the literature on intimate partner violence does not as yet provide an explanation for the direction of causality between intimate partner violence victimization and victim earnings. They posit two possible relationships: first, that lower-earning individuals are more economically vulnerable, and that this increases vulnerability to intimate partner violence; and second, that intimate partner violence causes career interruptions which then decrease earning.<sup>82</sup>

A literature review by Tandrayen-Ragoobur (2018) suggests two main schools of thought on the relationship between labor force participation and intimate partner violence. The first is the "non-cooperative bargaining" model, where greater financial independence for women increases their ability to leave, thus reducing intimate partner violence. The second "male backlash" model produces the opposite effect, with intimate partner violence increasing as women's earnings increase, due to an increased threat to traditional gender roles. Tandrayen-Ragoobur's research in Sub-Saharan Africa supports the backlash hypothesis, as working women in the study are found to experience higher levels of intimate partner violence than nonworking women.<sup>83</sup>

Substantial effects on workforce absenteeism and productivity are also evident. Evans-Lacko and Knapp (2016) examined the costs of absenteeism and presenteeism associated with depression only, finding South African costs per person of USD 894 and USD 6,066 respectively, using purchasing power parity currency conversion rates.<sup>84</sup> As shown in the burden of disease synthesis, violence-related depression and anxiety are particularly prevalent in women, and thus the burden of this economic effect is likely to fall disproportionately on this segment of the population. Rasmussen et al. (2017) estimate the total economic effect of ill health from all sources on absenteeism, presenteeism, and early retirement in 2015 in South Africa at 6.7 percent of GDP.<sup>85</sup> Assuming again an interpersonal violence attributable fraction of 9.5 percent, this would equate to workplace effects of violence of approximately 0.6 percent of GDP, which in 2019 is equivalent to ZAR 35.8 billion.

The available evidence for many of the other identified effects is insufficient to calculate their impact on economic outcomes. However, it is certainly possible to derive some idea of the possible magnitude of the impact of violence. In the informal economy, estimates of its total impact vary widely, from just under 6 percent of GDP (Statistics South Africa, 2014)<sup>86</sup> to 20-25 percent of GDP (Medina et al 2017).<sup>87</sup> If violent crime decreases the size of informal sector activity by only 1 percent, then that would amount to a cost of ZAR 2.8 billion to ZAR11.5 billion per annum.<sup>3</sup> The potential effects of crime on formal sector growth are likely to be even higher given the larger size of the formal economy.

The second-order intangible costs are summarized in the table below. As can be seen, for a number of mechanisms there is likely to be a substantial negative impact on economic costs, which cannot however be estimated.

	2019 cost estimate	As a percent of 2019 GDP
Absenteeism, presenteeism, and early retirement	R35 824	0.6%
Human capital formation and lifetime earnings	R42 277	0.8%
Risk perception effect on business activity	Unknown	
Increased security spending	Unknown	
Emigration	Unknown	

### Table 9: Second order tangible costs of violence

### 3.2 Intangible costs

The intangible costs of the suffering caused by interpersonal violence are noneconomic in nature. Grief and loss are real and vivid costs, but do not directly affect gross domestic product. However, from a policy perspective it remains useful to attempt to estimate these costs, in order to illustrate the size of the social impact involved and to help make the case for spending on programs to mitigate their effects.

Costing methods based on the earnings potential of the individual involved can produce very different estimates of the value of life of wealthy versus impoverished individuals. Such estimates are distasteful and counterintuitive. A more neutral alternative is the value of a statistical life (VSL), which can be used to estimate an average value placed on avoiding death in a given country. VSL accomplishes this by looking at the amount people in that country are on average prepared to spend to reduce the risk of death. As an example, being prepared to spend USD 1,000 to reduce the risk of death by 0.1 percent on average would suggest that VSL is USD 1 million.

VSL estimates are compiled per country using survey methodology, and to the best of our knowledge no VSL survey has been undertaken as yet for South Africa. Instead, we follow

<sup>3</sup> As per Statistics South Africa PO441, GDP at market prices amounted to ZAR 4,585 billion as at Q4 2022.

Matzopoulos et al. (2014), who derive a South African VSL estimate of ZAR 3.5 million for 2009,<sup>88</sup> based on the findings of Lindhjem et al. (2011) that a mean VSL of 73.8 times per capita GDP is appropriate in countries with similar per capita GDP.<sup>89</sup> Given GDP per capita of ZAR 95,602 in 2019 (Reserve Bank quarterly bulletin time series 6270J), this suggests a 2019 South African VSL of ZAR 7.06 million.

This estimate is combined with the DALY, YLD, and YLL estimates for 2019, as developed above, to derive an estimate of the total intangible cost of interpersonal violence in South Africa in 2019. As shown in Table 10, the total cost is estimated at ZAR 398.1 billion, of which ZAR 182.7 billion is borne by males and ZAR 215.4 billion by females. 74percent of total male intangible costs are associated with premature mortality (YLLs) due to interpersonal violence injuries. For females, the largest single line item is YLLs for HIV/AIDS (52 percent), followed by morbidity (measured as YLDs) for depressive disorders (14 percent).

2019, R billions	Males		Females			Persons			
	YLL cost	YLD cost	DALY cost	YLL cost	YLD cost	DALY cost	YLL cost	YLD cost	DALY cost
Interpersonal violence injuries	134.5	6.7	141.2	10.3	2.3	12.7	144.8	9.1	153.9
Self-harm injuries	13.1	0.1	13.2	5.0	0.1	5.1	18.1	0.2	18.3
Intimate femicides*				11.1		11.1	11.1		11.1
Depressive disorders		14.1	14.1		30.6	30.6		44.7	44.7
Anxiety disorders		12.6	12.6		18.8	18.8		31.5	31.5
HIV/AIDS*				112.8	22.6	135.3	112.8	22.6	135.3
Maternal abortion. miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy*				0.06	0.02	0.07	0.06	0.02	0.07
Alcohol use disorders	0.2	1.3	1.5	0.3	1.4	1.7	0.5	2.7	3.2
Total intangible cost	147.8	34.9	182.7	139.6	75.8	215.4	287.4	110.7	398.1

#### Table 10: Intangible costs of death and YLDs, 2019

\*Not measured or not available for males; Please refer back to footnote 1 (page 2).

At ZAR 398.1 billion, the intangible cost of violence in 2019 is equivalent to 7 percent of 2019 GDP of ZAR 5,614 billion. Females bear 54 percent of this cost, due primarily to the impact of HIV/AIDS infections associated with violence, while for males the bulk of the cost of violence is attributable to early deaths due to interpersonal violence.

### 3.3 Summary of tangible and intangible costs

Table 11 summarizes our findings regarding the tangible and intangible costs of violence to the South African economy. As a number of costs could not be quantified, this should likely be regarded as a significant underestimation of true total costs. As can be seen, tangible costs are estimated to be on the order of ZAR 129 billion, or 2.3 percent of 2019 GDP. Intangible costs using the VSL estimation technique are extremely high, and amount to more than twice 2019 GDP. These intangible costs can be viewed as an expression of the desire of the electorate to reduce interpersonal violence.

### Table 11: Summary of cost estimates, 2019 ZAR million

	2019 cost estimate, R million	As a percent of 2019 GDP
Tangible costs		
Healthcare costs	ZAR 15.687	0.3%
Criminal justice system	ZAR 35,175	0.6%
Absenteeism, presenteeism and early retirement	ZAR 35,824	0.6%
Human capital formation and lifetime earnings	ZAR 42,277	0.8%
Total tangible costs	ZAR 128,963	2.3%
Intangible costs	ZAR 398,114	7.1%

\*The authors apologise for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the report in any way. Please refer back to footnote 1 (page 2).

As noted in section 2.3, approximately half of DALYs caused by violence are born by females; if intimate partner violence femicide ratios are used as a proxy for the intimate partner violence attributable fraction, then approximately half of those DALYs are attributable to intimate partner violence. This would suggest that roughly a quarter of the total tangible and intangible costs shown in the table above are associated with intimate partner violence against females.

# 4 Interventions and Reforms to Prevent Violence, and Associated Costs

We summarize interventions and reforms to address violence across four categories: (1) individual and family based; (2) community level; (3) legal reforms; and (4) media campaigns to change attitudes and norms. We focus on interventions where there is evidence of effectiveness and, where possible, information regarding costs. It is important to recognize that interventions at lower ecological levels tend to have more robust epidemiological evidence and are more easily costed, whereas structural interventions that are difficult to cost may have wider impacts at a population level. For this reason it has not been possible to apply systematic inclusion criteria. The interventions that we have included, particularly on law reforms and media campaigns, are a subjective selection arising from our terms of reference for this review and the authors' understanding of priority and importance.

Furthermore, if one is to consider social determinants and more distal risk factors as worthy prevention targets to reduce violence, as encompassed in several framing documents, then it is worthwhile to consider strategies and interventions that address these major risk factors, even if the indirect effects on violence are assumed and not measured directly. These can include both policy and programmatic or community-level interventions to address risks.

### 4.1 Individual and family-based interventions

Early childhood development programs are considered key interventions to reduce violence and aggressive behavior directly, and also to address their triggers. Several South African interventions have been tested in the domestic setting with favorable results. For example, an intervention to promote sensitive and responsive parenting and secure infant attachment to the mother was implemented as a home visitation program by previously untrained lay community workers in two adjoining areas of Khayelitsha, a large peri-urban settlement (population approximately 500,000) on the outskirts of Cape Town, Western Cape. Evaluated as an RCT, the intervention was associated with significant benefit to the mother-infant relationship. Mothers in the intervention group were significantly more sensitive and less intrusive in their interactions with their infants at six and twelve months. The intervention was also associated with a higher rate of secure infant attachments at eighteen months.<sup>90</sup>

Several additional parenting interventions have arisen from the "Parenting for Lifelong Health" (PLH) initiative, launched in 2012 as a small evidence-building collaboration between academics, students, and colleagues at the WHO, UNICEF, and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs).<sup>91</sup> Examples include:

**Sinovuyo Caring Families Program for Young Children**, a parenting programme in Khayelitsha that aimed to reduce the risk of child maltreatment, was an important forerunner of subsequent PLH studies. Delivered over twelve weekly sessions by communitybased workers with basic ECD training, sessions included (a) prayer; (b) mindful physical exercise; (c) children's song; (d) discussion on home activities from the previous session; (e) introduction of core parenting principle; (f) group discussion on the benefits of the principle; (g) working through illustrated stories; and (h) practicing parenting skills through roleplay and assignment of home activities to implement learned skills. Moderate effects were reported immediately post-intervention, including increased frequency of (parent-reported) positive parenting (d = 0.63) and observational assessments of parent-child play (d = 0.57); and moderate negative treatment effects (observational assessment) for less frequent positive child behavior (d =-0.56).<sup>92</sup>

**PLH for Young Children**, a low-cost twelve-session program designed to increase positive parenting and reduce harsh parenting and conduct problems in children aged two to nine. An RCT in low-income, peri-urban settlements in Cape Town, Western Cape Province, observed significantly higher positive parenting practices across the duration of the program (39 percent [t1] better in the intervention group, reducing to 24 percent [t2]); and positive (and improving) child behaviour (11 percent [t1] and increasing to 17 percent [t2]). Less enduring favourable results included significantly less physical (28 percent) and psychological (14 percent) discipline, and 20 percent less caregiver-reported depression at t1.<sup>93</sup>

**PLH Sinovuyo Teen**, a fourteen-session parent and adolescent program on abuse and parenting practices delivered by trained community members in low-income and middle-income countries, an RCT across forty urban and rural sites in the Eastern Cape Province. At five to nine months post-intervention, the program was (according to caregivers) associated with significantly lower abuse (IRR = 0.55), reduced corporal punishment (IRR=0.55), and improved positive parenting (d=0.25); and (according to adolescents and caregivers) more involved parenting (d=0.86 and d=0.28 respectively) and less poor supervision (d=-0.50 and d=-0.34). Secondary outcomes (according to caregivers) showed reductions in corporal punishment endorsement, mental health problems, parenting stress, substance use, and increased social support. No adverse effects were detected.<sup>91</sup>

The inextricable bidirectional relationships between mental health, substance abuse, and interpersonal violence<sup>94</sup> substantially increase the scope of potential mental health interventions that could meaningfully impact individual-level violence risk for both victims and perpetrators. It is beyond the scope of this review to describe these exhaustively. We also recognize the importance of upstream confounders that influence supply and demand, such as national and regional drug and alcohol policies. Nevertheless, WHO recommends targeted educational interventions for different alcohol consumption patterns by providing simple advice outlining alcohol-related risks and normative advice on drinking limits and goals, and offering encouragement to moderate-to-heavy drinkers.<sup>95</sup> We highlight one local project in the Western Cape that explores interventions for hazardous and harmful drinking in primary health care settings such as antenatal clinics and emergency units.

Project STRIVE (Substance use and Trauma InterVention), a blended motivational interviewing (MI) and problem-solving therapy (MI-PST) intervention to reduce substance use among patients presenting for emergency services, was evaluated through an RCT.<sup>96</sup>

ASSIST scores—a standard instrument to measure substance use—decreased from baseline to follow up at three months in all three arms: MI, MI-PST, and control, with the ASSIST scores significantly lower in the MI-PST group. Notably, the significant findings for the control group indicate that the screening questions alone were beneficial. Furthermore a costing study found that cost per patient was low in all three groups: USD 16, USD 33, and USD 11, respectively. Both MI and MI-PST offered similar reductions in per unit reduction in ASSIST scores: MI at USD 119, and MI-PST at USD 131 per unit reduction.<sup>97</sup> The studies indicate that primary healthcare facilities which serve populations most affected by violence present an ideal opportunity for alcohol screening and early referral to treatment services. However, the absence of standardized screening protocols and lack of investment in follow-up care present challenges.

### 4.2 Community level programs

Several SA research studies have explored community-level programs that seek to achieve reductions in interpersonal violence, of which three are already featured in the Pathfinders initiative's framing documentation:

Stepping Stones and Creating Futures, a combined programmatic intervention to reduce intimate partner violence and HIV risks through peer-led, interactive sessions with young adults in informal settlements. Initially, Stepping Stones-which included knowledge building, risk awareness, and communication skills around gender, HIV/AIDS, and violence, as well as an economic skills module-was implemented in seventy villages in the Eastern Cape province. The intervention significantly improved several reported risk behaviours in men, with a lower proportion of men reporting perpetration of intimate partner violence across two years of followup, less transactional sex, and less problem drinking at 12 months. The desired behaviour changes were specific to male participants.<sup>98</sup> Subsequently, Creating Futures, a livelihood-strengthening intervention to address women's economic dependency on men and the overall contexts of poverty,<sup>99</sup> was implemented alongside Stepping Stones in the urban informal settlement of eThekwini in KwaZulu-Natal province. A cluster randomized controlled trial recruited 676 female and 646 male residents aged eighteen to thirty years that were not working or in education. At twenty-four months post enrollment, men's self-reported past year intimate partner violence perpetration was lower (physical intimate partner violence [adjusted odds ratio [aOR]: .71, 95 percent CI: .51e.97]; severe intimate partner violence [aOR: .70, 95 percent Cl: .52e.94]; and sexual intimate partner violence [aOR: .74, 95 percent Cl: .54e1.03]). For women, earnings were significantly higher in the intervention arm (b 1/4 .97, 95 percent Cl: .43e1.51). The authors concluded that the interventions reduced men's self-reported intimate partner violence perpetration and strengthened women's livelihoods, but not women's experiences of intimate partner violence.<sup>100</sup>

The **Intervention with Microfinance for AIDS and Gender Equity (IMAGE)** study piloted in villages in rural Limpopo province combined a microfinance program with a gender and HIV training curriculum. An RCT in pair-matched villages selected participants from three groups: direct program participants, randomly selected co-residents (aged fourteen to thirty-five), and randomly selected community members. Experience of intimate partner violence was

reduced by 55 percent (adjusted risk ratio [aRR] 0.45, 95 percent CI 0.23-0.91; adjusted risk difference-7.3 percent,-16.2 to 1.5) among participants. The authors concluded that social and economic development interventions have the potential to alter risk environments for HIV and intimate partner violence.<sup>101</sup> The study complemented a growing body of evidence which suggests that an increase in women's economic participation may decrease gender inequity and violence. IMAGE was subsequently found to be cost effective in terms of cost per DALY averted at the trial phase<sup>102</sup> and after subsequent scale-up to 3,000 participants.<sup>102</sup>

**Men as Partners (MAP)**, implemented in Johannesburg, Gauteng province in the mid 2000s, provided group education, community workshops, and activities for young men focused on gender equality, heathy relationship dynamics, and HIV/AIDS. The evaluation yielded favorable results, with most male respondents (95 percent) indicating changes in how they thought about gender and eliminating violence against women.<sup>103</sup> However, the evaluation was qualitative in nature, comprising focus groups and pre- and post-workshop interviews, and did not lend itself to quantification for cost effectiveness.

Given that all three of the above programs include a a particular focus on reducing violence directed at women, it is also worthwhile to examine emerging evidence for promising general violence prevention strategies. Violence Prevention through Urban Upgrading (VPUU) is a second-generation program addressing crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED). It included built environment interventions alongside social programs and community participation initiatives in Khayelitsha, Western Cape. A cross-sectional study of 3,500 households found that living in close proximity to the upgraded infrastructure was associated with significantly lower experience of interpersonal violence (34 percent lower incidence (95 percent CI: 23 percent-43 percent)) after adjusting for household and area level deprivation and alcohol outlet density. The association was stronger after adjusting for social cohesion, which was collected for a smaller sample.<sup>57</sup> Notably, the association was consistent for men and women and for old and young adults. The main limitation of the study was the timing of its repeated cross-sectional design, which did not include surveys prior to the introduction of the VPUU intervention. Forthcoming research that examines temporal aspects using police violent crime data as a proxy for experience of violence is expected to show a reduction over time, specifically in informal areas. Complementary, unadjusted analysis has also shown favourable associations between VPUU and satisfaction with services, better mental health, and social cohesion.<sup>104</sup>

We were unable to find economic costing, but the overall cost of the VPUU intervention is likely to be formidable. It is troubling that recent reports suggest the quality of public infrastructure in South Africa is declining,<sup>105</sup> and thus the urban built environment may worsen violence outcomes going forward. It is also important to note that alcohol outlet densities were a significant predictor for households experiencing interpersonal violence, and that outlet densities were extremely high across the study area.<sup>57</sup> Consequently, the full range of evidence-based strategies to reduce harmful drinking need to be considered as potential interventions for reducing violence. Many of these could conceivably include community-level initiatives, but we discuss them collectively in section 4.3, because the overarching policy ultimately enables uptake of interventions at the community level.

### 4.3 National-level policies, stragies, and legal reforms

Since SA's first democratic elections in 1994, there have been several important policy developments that may have impacted **interpersonal violence**. First, the 1996 National Crime Prevention Strategy (NCPS) presented an entirely new paradigm to policing, viz., social crime prevention. The strategy included measures either carried out by organizations outside the justice system with the aim of reducing risks, or, if within the criminal justice system, focused on reducing recidivism by perpetrators.<sup>106</sup> The NCPS was subsequently included as one of the key pillars of SA's National Growth and Development Strategy, which had symbolic importance as the first instance of crime prevention being included as part of economic development. It also informed the development of the 1998 *White Paper on Safety and Security* that extended the remit of policing beyond investigation, visible policing, and service to victims, expanding it to also include intervention in the environment and conditions in which crimes occur<sup>107</sup>—an approach more consistent with public health principles that address the social determinants of violence. However, the necessary impetus for government to move forward with this agenda has been lacking, and the police have subsequently reverted to a more traditional crime-fighting role.<sup>106-108</sup>

More recent policy documents have embraced a similar approach. The 2012 National Development Plan (NDP), in its efforts to build safer communities, advocated interventions to address root causes such as poverty; inequality and unemployment; improve social cohesion; reduce the availability of weapons; and address spatial factors including environmental design, alongside more civilian involvement and the demilitarization of the police.<sup>109</sup> In a similar vein, the 2016 *White Paper on Safety and Security* draws on the NDP, NCPS, and the previous White Paper as framing documents. It advocates a developmental approach to crime prevention, recognizing tenets of the ecological model as set out in section 2.4, and also includes aspects of the built environment as an important contributor to improved safety.<sup>110</sup>

For **intimate partner violence**, the 2020 National Strategic Plan on Gender-Based Violence and Femicide (NSP) presents a comprehensive framework for implementation by a range of government departments, drawing on evidence-based literature "to ensure a coordinated national response to the crisis of gender-based violence and femicide by the government of South Africa and the country as a whole." Key to its implementation are activities around six pillars: 1.Accountability, Coordination and Leadership; 2. Prevention and Rebuilding Social Cohesion; 3. Justice, Safety and Protection; 4. Response, Care, Support and Healing; 5. Economic Power; and 6. Research and Information Management. The NSP aligns with several global, regional, and national policy frameworks including: the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW); the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities; the International Convention on the Elimination on Forms of Racial Discrimination; the International Labour Organisation (ILO) Convention on Violence and Harassment; the SDGs-related targets; the Beijing Platform for Action; the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; Agenda 2063; the Southern African Development Community (SADC) Gender Protocol; and the SADC Regional GBV Strategy and Framework for Action 2019-2030.

Another example of public health principles being applied in policy was the Western Cape government's Integrated Violence Prevention Policy Framework, adopted in 2013 following the Provincial Government and the National Department of Health co-hosting the 5th Milestones Meeting of the WHO's Global Campaign for Violence Prevention in Cape Town in 2011. The Policy Framework included the prioritization of a number of evidencebased interventions: developing safe, stable, nurturing relationships between children and parents/caregivers; developing life skills in children and adolescents; promoting gender equality to prevent violence against women; changing cultural and social norms that support violence; reducing the availability and harmful use of alcohol; a focus on highrisk areas; and the instutionalization of monitoring and evaluation. Importantly, the Policy Framework recognized the need for "quick wins" (e.g., firearm control and alcohol harm reduction) that could demonstrably reduce violence at a population level in the short term, providing a window for policy makers to enact sustained, longer-term preventative action (e.g., early childhood development and parenting programs). However, a review of the Policy Framework undertaken one year following implementation identified early resistance arising from conflict with intradepartmental priorities and competing policies and directives.<sup>111</sup> While some of the solutions outlined in this review have been addressed in the Provincial Government's more recent safety plan,<sup>112</sup> adherence to evidence is still only considered optional. Where evidence conflicts with other imperatives, such as economic development through further expansion of the alcohol industry, political priorities take precedence.

Alcohol control is also a notable omission from the National Development Plan chapter on Building Safer Communities, despite an undertaking to "implement strategies known to work." South Africa has an influential domestic alcohol production industry and has struggled in the past to implement progressive alcohol control policies informed by international best practices. Examples include the 2013 Control of Marketing of Alcoholic Beverages Bill that aimed to restrict advertising and promotion of alcohol products, and the 2016 Draft National Liquor Amendment Bill that sought to impose stricter licensing conditions and raise the minimum drinking age. Another effort was the 2017 Western Cape White Paper on Alcohol Harms Reduction, which embraced the WHO's ten recommended targets in its Global Strategy to Reduce Harmful Use of Alcohol,<sup>113</sup> but prioritized alcohol harm reduction above industry well-being.

The links between alcohol and violence (as well as injuries more broadly) were recently highlighted in the wake of alcohol sales bans that accompanied 2020 COVID-19 restrictions. The sales restrictions were designed to reduce the pressure on public healthcare systems caused by alcohol-related violence, and were followed by immediate and significant reductions in injury, deaths, and hospitalizations.<sup>25,114-116</sup> While such a ban/prohibition is neither sustainable nor desirable, the events alerted the public to the risks associated with alcohol and provided some impetus for the adoption of evidence-based alcohol policies. A public appeal to government during the COVID-19 period by 164 academic, government,

civil society, and corporate signatories centered on five key evidence-based strategies, which are based on a comprehensive cost effectiveness study<sup>117</sup> and are also consistent with WHO's SAFER initiative:<sup>118</sup>

- 1. A ban on **advertising** of alcohol (except on the site of sale, where it should not be visible to those under eighteen years);
- 2. Increasing the **price** of alcohol, both through excise taxes and by introducing a minimum price per unit of pure alcohol in liquor products;
- 3. Reducing the **legal limit for drinking and driving** to a blood alcohol content of 0.02 percent or below;
- 4. Reducing the **availability of alcohol**, especially in residential areas, by limiting the density of liquor outlets, shorter trading hours, and ending the sale of alcohol in larger containers; and
- 5. Intensifying the **availability of counselling and medically-assisted treatment** for persons struggling with dependence.

Another implementation failure relates to firearm control. Researchers ascribed significant reductions in mortality from interpersonal violence between 1997 and 2012 to a decrease in firearm homicides following the adoption of the provisions of the Firearms Control Act (FCA) of 2000.<sup>18,119,120</sup> The FCA introduced more stringent eligibility and competency requirements for state and civilian firearm owners, and provisions for the prevention of gender-based violence. However, more recent data reflects a surge in firearm homicide.<sup>121</sup> It is important to note that non-firearm violence—a proxy for the level of violence in society more generally—has remained more stable. Consequently, the major share of the recent increase in homicides reported in national police data relates to the increasing share of gun deaths.

Matzopoulos et al. (2019) surmise that there were two key drivers for this: (1) the clearing of a Central Firearm Registry backlog resulting in the expedited finalization of more than 1 million firearm applications, including license renewals and new licenses; and (2) corrupt police officials and firearm dealerships redirecting more than 2,000 firearms marked for destruction at the police armory in Gauteng province to criminal networks.<sup>120</sup> Affected families recently applied for certification of a class action against the state to claim for deaths and injuries resulting from these firearms.<sup>122</sup> The 2017 Firearms Control Amendment Bill offers an opportunity to reverse this lapse by further limiting civilian access (e.g., by removing the "self defense" licensing category and further strengthening access restrictions for GBV offenders).

It is worth noting that despite poor adherence/implementation, as in the case with firearms and alcohol policies, international instruments and agreements do have a considerable bearing on the policies put in place by national government, which in turn receive support at the community level. For example, the FCA aligns with various international obligations, such as the legally binding global Firearms Protocol<sup>123</sup> and the regional SADC Firearms Protocol.<sup>124</sup> Both protocols provide for various principles underpinning the new Draft Firearms control Amendment Bill, including nonproliferation, recordkeeping, and stockpile management. Similarly, the women's movement in SA has used CEDAW, among other instruments, to advocate for reforms around domestic violence.

Nevertheless, this international policy influence is not always favorable. The explicit focus on violence against women and children, and—until their implicit SDG inclusion under SDG14<sup>125</sup>— exclusion of men from violence prevention agenda emanates from various instruments in the UN system.<sup>10,126</sup> International drug policy also presents challenges. As well as criminalizing substance abuse and addiction among users that could conceivably be better addressed through mental health services, these policies may also perversely incentivize the trade by inflating profit margins for successful operators. It is beyond the scope of this review to localize what is essentially an international issue, but certainly the "war on drugs" is a structural driver more likely to increase rather than decrease violence.

### 4.4 Media campaigns seeking to change attitudes and norms around violence

Although evidence supporting the influence of standalone media campaigns in reducing interpersonal violence seems sparse,<sup>127</sup> they remain a popular rallying point for activism both internationally and locally. Most prominent in the South African landscape is the annual *16 Days of Activism for No Violence against Women and Children*, a UN campaign running from November 25 (International Day of No Violence against Women) to December 10 (International Human Rights Day). We were unable to find research evaluating the effectiveness of this campaign in reducing violence—nor would we expect it to be effective so close to year end with the increase in festivities and drinking—but an evaluation of the government's communication strategy around the campaign indicated that it should be more visible throughout the year, that aspects should target men specifically, and that it should include educational components about the social and economic consequences of GBV.<sup>128</sup>

The Pathfinders initiative's framing documentation also highlights *Soul City*, South Africa's acclaimed weekly primetime TV drama series about social problems, including domestic violence, which features prominently in the *What Works for Violence Prevention* literature.<sup>129</sup> The Soul City Development Institute's own evaluation found increased levels of support-seeking and support-giving behavior among households exposed to the show. While more direct effects in terms of reducing acts of violence may be difficult to determine, the medium is certainly cost effective in terms of its wide reach, estimated at just USD 0.16 per person reached with a VAW message.<sup>130</sup> This makes mass media an attractive complimentary intervention to accompany other initiatives and policy implementation processes.

### 4.5. Summary of violence prevention interventions and reforms

It is clear that SA employs a myriad of approaches to prevent violence, from individual, family, and community-based prevention programs through to structural-level legal reforms guided by international instruments and policies, as set out in Sections 4.1 to 4.4. Despite this, obvious challenges remain with implementation. Program interventions face challenges with replication and scale-up, whereas at the structural level, reforms can be compromised by a lack of political will alongside competing priorities, compounded by insufficient service delivery capacity. In Section 5 we recommend strategies to address some of these deficiencies.

# **5** Recommendations

The overarching recommendation from this evidence review and costing exercise is that there is an urgent need to provide financial and technical support for intersectoral collaboration, multilateral research cooperation, and research capacity to address violence, which in South Africa imposes a significant threat to development. Sub-recommendations for progressing this agenda–from a macro to a micro perspective–are as follows:

### To prevent violence at a societal level:

- The government should adopt an integrated violence prevention approach that targets a few quick wins likely to make an impact at the population level (with the obvious targets being firearms and alcohol interventions). At the same time, the government should invest in evidence-based programmatic and policy interventions that impact across the life-cycle and that deliver, although sometimes delayed, sustained cumulative benefits.
- It is imperative to balance the response to violence (criminal justice) with a more preventative approach that addresses social determinants of violence. Further violence prevention strategies should include advocacy for policy reforms that prioritize violence prevention, survivor protection, and perpetrator accountability.
- A major finding of this study is that a significant portion of the economic cost of violence derives from the impact of violence on human capital formation in children who are exposed to violence. Consideration should thus be given to the potential of educational system interventions in order to counterbalance the impact of violence on educational attainment. Further research is needed in this area.
- Evidence-based prevention programs are required that target both males and females and address various forms of interpersonal violence, such as child maltreatment, community violence, and intimate partner violence. This can be achieved through collaboration with schools, community organizations, and health institutions to integrate these programs into curricula, community initiatives, and healthcare services.
- Mental health services and resources tailored to individuals who have experienced interpersonal violence should be expanded and strengthened. Engagement with mental health professionals, social workers, and medical practitioners can provide a holistic approach to healing.
- A coordinated preventive strategy that combines law enforcement efforts, healthcare responses, and educational campaigns is needed to address the root causes of violence.

• Prevention efforts should at all times be based on robust evidence-based research conducted by credible independent agencies such as universities and science councils. Research and intervention programs directly promoted and funded by business should be supplementary in nature, and should not lead the research agenda. Contributions should where possible be allocated by government, according to research and intervention priorities that are consistent with international best practice for violence prevention (e.g., WHO's INSPIRE).

#### To improve the evidence base for violence prevention:

- More funding should be allocated to researching promising programmatic interventions for violence prevention.
- Research should be accompanied by investment in independent (i.e., not industrydesigned) evaluations of upstream and policy reforms likely to reduce violence.
- Documentation of upstream interventions and policy reforms must be improved to support future costing and cost-effectiveness studies.
- Routine, recent, and reliable data on injury deaths and presentations to health facilities needs to be available from a national injury surveillance system that records detailed information on demographics, mechanisms (i.e, firearms, sharp force, etc.), type of violence (i.e., intimate partner, gang violence, etc.), and nature of injuries (i.e., fractures, open wounds, amputations, etc.). This data can be utilized to identify trends, high-risk groups, and areas that need targeted interventions.

### To improve the quality of future costing studies:

- In the absence of reliable routine injury surveillance, occasional all-injury mortality studies can ascertain the completeness/validity of police homicide statistics.
- Similarly, burden of disease studies can provide more recent mortality and DALY rates for all diseases including interpersonal violence. Accompanying comparative risk assessment studies can assess the impact of violence on a range of health outcomes, but the scope of these studies should be expanded to quantify impacts of additional forms of violence and to consider more conditions affecting men.
- More funding should be directed to research that measures the impact and cost of crime on various aspects of the economy. Such research should also disentangle violence prevention and response costs from overall costs of crime.
- Research to inform a South Africa-specific value-of-a-statistical-life (VSL) measure would aid policy makers to recognize the true costs of major impediments to health and development, such as interpersonal violence.

# **Endnotes**

- 1. Matzopoulos, R., Bowman, B., Butchart, A., and Mercy, JA. "The impact of violence on health in low- to middle-income countries." International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion 15, no. 4 (2012): 177-87. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19051081.
- 2. Ibid., 209-19.
- 3. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. SDG Indicators 2023. Available at: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/dataContacts?selectIndicator=&selectAgency=who.
- 4. World Health Organization. *INSPIRE: Seven Strategies for Ending Violence Against Children*. 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/about/%5Cnhttp://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/207717/1/9789241565356-eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- 5. Matzopoulos, R., Prinsloo, M., Pillay-van Wyk, V., Gwebushe, N., Mathews, S., Martin, LJ., et al. "Injury-related mortality in South Africa: a retrospective descriptive study of postmortem investigations." *Bull World Health Organ* 93, no. 5 (2015): 303–13. <u>http://www.who.int/entity/bulletin/volumes/93/5/14-145771.pdf</u>.
- 6. Wyk, VP., Msemburi, W., Laubscher, R., Dorrington, RE., Groenewald, P., Glass, T., et al. "Mortality trends and differentials in South Africa from 1997 to 2012: second National Burden of Disease Study." *The Lancet Global Health* 4, no. 9 (2016): 642–53.
- 7. Machisa, M., Lowe, C., Rama, K., and Jewkes, R. *The war at home: Gender based violence indicators project.* Gauteng Research Report. Johannesburg, South Africa, 2011.
- 8. Norman, R., Bradshaw, D., Schneider, M., Jewkes, R., Mathews, S., Abrahams, N., et al. "Estimating the burden of disease attributable to interpersonal violence in South Africa in 2000." *South African Medical Journal* 97, no. 8 (2007): 653-6.
- 9. Mazars, C., Magni, S., Jewkes, R., and Shamu, S.. Study on Violence against Women in South Africa Know your Epidemic - Know your Response. Pretoria, 2013.
- 10. van Niekerk, A., Tonsing, S., Seedat, M., Jacobs, R., Ratele, K., and McClure R. "The invisibility of men in South African violence prevention policy: National prioritization, male vulnerability, and framing prevention." *Global Health Action* 8, no. 1 (2015): 1–10.
- "Evidence Brief : Making the Case for Peace in Our Cities : Halving Urban Violence by 2030." Kroc Institute for Peace and Justice. <u>https://catcher.sandiego.edu/items/usd/I\_P</u>, Urban Violence Evidence Brief 3.4.20.pdf (October, 2019).
- 12. World Health Organization. Global Consultation on Violence and Health. Violence: a public health priority. December,1996. Available at: <u>https://www.scirp.org/</u> (S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkposzje))/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx?ReferenceID=2156316.
- 13. Matzopoulos, R., Bhalla, K., and Harrison, JE. "Homicide." In: Donnelly, P., and Ward, C., eds. Oxford Textbook of Violence Prevention: Epidemiology, Evidence and Policy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2015. 11-7.
- 14. Prinsloo, M., Bradshaw, D., Joubert, J., Matzopoulos, R., and Groenewald, P. "South Africa's vital statistics are currently not suitable for monitoring progress towards injury and violence Sustainable Development Goals." South African Medical Journal 107, no. 6 (2017): 470-1. Available at: <a href="http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/11922">http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/11922</a>.
- 15. Matzopoulos, R., Groenewald, P., Abrahams, N., and Bradshaw, D. "Where have all the gun deaths gone?" *South African Medical Journal* 106, no. 6 (2016): 589. Available at: <u>http://www.samj.org.</u> <u>za/index.php/samj/article/view/10379</u>.
- Prinsloo, M., Mhlongo, S., Dekel, B., Gwebushe, N., Martin, L., Saayman, G., et al. "The 2nd Injury Mortality Survey: A national study of injury mortality levels and causes in South Africa in 2017." *Cape Town* (2021). Available at: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.13993.47208</u>.

- 17. UNODC. dataUNODC. 2019. Available at: https://dataunodc.un.org/content/country-list.
- Abrahams, N., Mathews, S., Martin, LJ., Lombard, C., and Jewkes, R. "Intimate Partner Femicide in South Africa in 1999 and 2009." *PLOS Medicine* 10, no. 4 (2013): e1001412. Available at: <u>http:// dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001412</u>.
- Abrahams, N., Mhlongo, S., Dekel, B., Chirwa, E., Ketelo, A., Lombard, C., et al. "Decrease in femicide in South Africa: three national studies across 18 years." SAMRC, March 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.samrc.ac.za/policy-briefs/research-brief-decrease-femicide-south-africa-threenational-studies-across-18-years</u>.
- Nicol, A., Knowlton, LM., Schuurman, N., Matzopoulos, R., Zargaran, E., Cinnamonm J., et al. "Trauma Surveillance in Cape Town, South Africa: An Analysis of 9236 Consecutive Trauma Center Admissions." JAMA Surgery 18, no. 149(6) (June, 2014): 549–56. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/24789507</u>.
- 21. Butchart, A., and Peden, M. "Injury and Trauma." In: Barron, P., Franklin, L., eds. South African Health Review 1997, 213-21. Durban: Health Systems Trust, 1997.
- 22. Mureithi, L., Schaik, N. Van, Matzopoulos, R., Naledi, T., and English, R. "Report on the Rapid Assessment of the Injury Morbidity Burden at Health Services in 3 High Violence Communities in the Western Cape." Cape Town: 2013.
- 23. Matzopoulos, RG., Prinsloo, M., Butchart, A., Peden, M, and Lombard, CJ. "Estimating the South African trauma caseload." *The International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion* 13, no. 1 (March, 2006): 49-51. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16537225.
- 24. Prinsloo, M., Hunter, K., Matzopoulos, R., Millett, E., Van As, S., Jordaan, E., et al. "Non-fatal injuries among boys and girls presenting to Red Cross War Memorial Children's Hospital, Cape Town." South African Medical Journal 112, no. 7 (July, 2022): 465-71. Available at: <u>https://samajournals.co.za/index.php/samj/article/view/18</u>.
- Navsaria, PH., Nicol, AJ., Parry, CDH., Matzopoulos, R., Maqungo, S., and Gaudin, R. "The effect of lockdown on intentional and nonintentional injury during the COVID-19 pandemic in Cape Town, South Africa: A preliminary report." South African Medical Journal 111, no. 2 (December 14, 2020): 13183. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33334392/</u>.
- 26. Statistics South Africa. Victims of Crime Survey: 2017/18. Pretoria, 2018.
- 27. South African Police Service. On A Journey to a Safer South Africa Crime Situation In RSA Twelve Months 01 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 (March, 2018): 1-184. Available at: <u>https://www.saps.gov.</u> <u>za/services/long\_version\_presentation\_april\_to\_march\_2017\_2018.pdf</u>.
- 28. SADHS. South Africa Demographic and Health Survey 2016: Key indicators report. 2016.
- 29. Shepherd, J., Shapland, M., and Scully, C. "Recording by the Police of Violent Offences; An Accident and Emergency Department Perspective." *Medicine, Science, and the Law 29*, no. 3 (July, 1989): 251-7. Available at: <u>http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/002580248902900311</u>.
- Florence, C., Shepherd, J., Brennan, I., and Simon, T. "Effectiveness of anonymised information sharing and use in health service, police, and local government partnership for preventing violence related injury: Experimental study and time series analysis." *BMJ* 342 (June 6, 2011): 7812). <u>https://www.bmj.com/content/342/bmj.d3313</u>.
- 31. Jabar, A., Oni, T., London, L., Cois, A., and Matzopoulos, R. "Matching study using health and police datasets for characterising interpersonal violence in the community of Khayelitsha, South Africa 2013-2015." *BMJ Open* 12, no. 9 (September, 2022): e048129. Available at: <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-048129</u>.

- 32. South African Police Service. Addendum to the SAPS Annual Report: Annual Crime Report 2016/2017. Pretoria, South Africa, 2017. Available at: <a href="http://www.saps.gov.za/about/stratframework/annual\_report/2016\_2017/gpw\_crime\_stats\_2017.pdf">www.saps.gov.za/about/stratframework/annual\_report/2016\_2017/gpw\_crime\_stats\_2017.pdf</a>.
- 33. Statistics South Africa. Victims of Crime Survey: 2016/17. Pretoria, South Africa, September, 2017. <u>https://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=10521#:~:text=An%20estimated%20total%20of%20</u>1,households%20(6%2C6%25).
- 34. Jewkes, R., and Abrahams, N. "The epidemiology of rape and sexual coercion in South Africa: an overview." *Social Science and Medicine* 55, no. 7 (2002): 1231-44. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953601002428</u>.
- 35. Jewkes, R., Watts, C., Abrahams, N., Penn-Kekana, L., and García-Moreno, C. "Ethical and methodological issues in conducting research on gender-based violence in Southern Africa." *Reproductive Health Matters* 8, no. 15 (May, 2000): 93-103. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0968808000900107</u>.
- Jewkes, R., Dartnall, E., and Sikweyiya, Y. "Ethical and Safety Recommendations for Research on the Perpetration of Sexual Violence." Sexual Violence Research Initiative, Medical Research Council Pretoria, South Africa, 2012. Available at: <u>http://www.svri.org/sites/default/files/ attachments/2016-04-13/EthicalRecommendations.pdf</u>.
- 37. Abrahams, N., Jewkes, R., Hoffman, M., and Laubsher, R. "Sexual violence against intimate partners in Cape Town: prevalence and risk factors reported by men." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 82, no. 5 (2004): 330-7. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15298223/#:~:text=Conclusion%3A%20Sexual%20violence%20in%20intimate,and%20verbally%20abusing%20a%20partner</u>.
- 38. Jewkes, R., Penn-Kekana, L., Levin, J., Ratsaka, M., and Schrieber, M." Prevalence of emotional, physical and sexual abuse of women in three South African provinces," *South African Medical Journal* 91, no. 5 (2001): 421-8. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11455808</u>.
- 39. Murray, CJL., and Acharya, AK. "Understanding DALYs." *Journal of Medical Economics* 16, no. 6 (1997): 703-30.
- 40. World Health Organization. *The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update. 2009. Available at:* <u>https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241563710</u>.
- 41. Gunda, R., and Chimbari, MJ. "Cost-effectiveness analysis of malaria interventions using disability adjusted life years: A systematic review." Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation 15, no. 1 (2017).
- 42. Bellis, MA., Hughes, K., Ford, K., Rodriguez, R., Sethi, D., and Passmore, J. "Life course health consequences and associated annual costs of adverse childhood experiences across Europe and North America : a systematic review and meta-analysis." *Lancet Public Health* 4, no. 10 (September, 2019): e517-28. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30145-8</u>.
- 43. Prinsloo, M., Machisa, M., Kassanjee, R., Ward, CL., Neethling, I., Artz, L., et al. "Estimating the changing burden of disease attributable to interpersonal violence in South Africa for 2000, 2006 and 2012." South African Medical Journal 97, no. 8 (2022): 693–704. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.2022.v112i8b.16512</u>.
- 44. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. "Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 Results." Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2021. Available at: <u>http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool</u>.
- 45. Murray, CJL., Vos, T., Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Flaxman, AD., Michaud, C., et al. "Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010." *Lancet* 380, no, 9859 (December, 2012): 2197-223. Available at: <a href="http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673612616894">http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673612616894</a>.

- 46. Chapman, G., Hansen, KS., Jelsmam J., Ndhlovu, C., Piotti, B., Byskov, J., et al. "The burden of disease in Zimbabwe in 1997 as measured by disability-adjusted life years lost." *Tropical Medicine* & *International Health* 11, no. 5 (2006): 660-71.
- 47. Bradshaw, D., Groenewald, P., Laubscher, R., Nannan, N., Nojilana, B., Norman, R., et al. "Initial burden of disease estimates for South Africa, 2000." Burden of Disease Research Unit, Medical Research Council of South Africa, Tygerberg, Western Cape, 2003. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14635557</u>.
- 48. Pillay-van Wyk, V., Roomaney, R., Awotiwon, O., Nglazi, M., Turawa, E., Ebrahim, A., et al. "Burden of Disease Review Manager for Systematic Review of Observational Studies: Technical Report and User Guide. Version 2." Cape Town, South Africa, 2018.
- 49. Artz, L., Ward, C., Leoschut, L., Kassanjee, R., and Burton, P. "The prevalence of child sexual abuse in South Africa : The Optimus Study South Africa." *South African Medical Journal* 108, no. 10 (2018): 791-2.
- 50. Ward, CL., Artz, L., Leoschut, L., Kassanjee, R., and Burton, P. "Sexual violence against children in South Africa: a nationally representative cross-sectional study of prevalence and correlates." *Lancet Glob Health* 6, no. 4 (April, 2018): e460-8. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30060-3</u>.
- 51. Bradshaw, D., Pillay van-Wyk, V., Neethling, I., Roomaney, RA., Cois, A., Joubert, JD., et al. "Second Comparative Risk Assessment for South Africa (SACRA2) highlights need for health promotion and strengthened surveillance." South African Medical Journal 112, no. 8 (September, 2022): 556-70. Available at: https://samajournals.co.za/index.php/samj/article/view/208.
- 52. Ward, CL., Artz, L., Berg, J., Boonzaier, F., Crawford-Browne, S., Dawes, A., et al. "Violence, violence prevention, and safety: A research agenda for South Africa." *South African Medical Journal* 102, no. 4 (2012): 218-24.
- 53. Matzopoulos, R., Bowman, B., Mathews, S., and Myers, J. "Applying upstream interventions for interpersonal violence prevention: An uphill struggle in low- to middle-income contexts." *Health Policy* 97, no. 1 (September, 2010): 62-70. Available at: <a href="https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168851010000795">https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168851010000795</a>.
- 54. Western Cape Government. Integrated Provincial Violence Prevention Policy Framework. 2013. Available at: <u>https://www.westerncape.gov.za/sites/www.westerncape.gov.za/files/integrated-violence-prevention-policy-framework.pdf</u>.
- 55. WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Action on the social determinants of health: Learning from previous experiences. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2010. Available at: www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500876.
- 56. World Bank. World Bank GINI index. 2014. Available at: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/</u><u>SI.POV.GINI</u>.
- 57. Matzopoulos, R., Bloch, K., Lloyd, S., Berens, C., Bowman, B., Myers, J., et al. "Urban upgrading and levels of interpersonal violence in Cape Town, South Africa: The violence prevention through urban upgrading programme." *Social Science & Medicine* 255, 112978: (June, 2020). Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.112978">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.112978</a>.
- Bowman, B, Stevens, G., Eagle, G., Langa, M., Kramer, S., Kiguwa, P., et al. "The second wave of violence scholarship: South African synergies with a global research agenda." Social Science & Medicine 146 (December, 2015): 243-8. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2015.10.014</u>.
- 59. Hoeffler, A. "What are the costs of violence?" Sage Journals 16, no. 4 (July, 2017). Available at: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1470594X17714270#:~:text=The%20cost%20of%20 violence%20can,4)%20to%20society%20at%20large.
- 60. Truen, S., Ramkolowan, Y., Corrigall, J., and Matzopoulos, R. "Baseline study of the liquor industry Including the impact of the National Liquor Act 59 of 2003." Pretoria, South Africa: 2011.

- 61. Budlender, D. "National and provincial government spending and revenue related to alcohol abuse." South African Crime Quarterly, no. 31 (March 2010). <u>https://doi.org/10.17159/2413-3108/2010/i31a88</u>9.
- 62. Altbeker, A. "Paying for crime: South African spending on criminal justice." *ISS paper* 115, July, 2005. <u>https://issafrica.s3.amazonaws.com/site/uploads/115.PDF</u>.
- 63. KPMG. Report on Diagnostic Review of the State Response to Violence against Women and Children. March, 2016. <u>https://genderjustice.org.za/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Report-Diagnostic-Review-State-Response-VAWC.pdf</u>.
- 64. South African Parliament. Women's Roundtable: Accelerating Women's Empowerment and Development, through Engendering the National Development Plan and Financing for Gender Equality. Cape Town, 2015. <u>https://static.pmg.org.za/150901accelerating.pdf</u>.
- 65. Africa SS. "Crime against Women in South Africa: An in-depth analysis of the Victims of Crime Survey data." *Crime Statistics Series Volume V*, 2018.
- 66. Kingdon, GG., Knight, J. "Why high open unemployment and small informal sector in South Africa?" 2001. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228868347\_Why\_high\_open\_unemployment\_and\_small\_informal\_sector\_in\_South\_Africa</u>.
- 67. Lund, F. "Women Street Traders in urban South Africa: a synthesis of selected research findings." School of Development Studies, University of Natal, Durban. September, 1998. Available at: <u>http://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/Lund-women-street-traders.pdf</u>.
- 68. Katherine, V., Tipple, G., and Napier, MG. "Making a Living in African Cities: The Role of Homebased Enterprises in Accra and Pretoria." *International Planning Studies* 8, no. 4 (2003). <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08cf4ed915d3cfd00170e/R71382.pdf</u>.
- 69. Ramachandran, V., Clarke, G., Kaplan, DE., Habyarimana, J., and Ingram, M. "An Assessment of the Investment Climate in South Africa." *The World Bank*, 2007.
- 70. Department of Labour. National Bargaining Council for the Private Security Sector. Bargaining Council Main Collective Agreement. Government Gazette 656, no. 4303 (February, 2020): 1-4. Available at: <u>http://www.sasecurity.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/GG-43026-NBC-Main-Agreement-Schedule-2020-02-20.pdf</u>.
- 71. Sherr, L., Hensels, IS., Skeen, S., Tomlinson, M., Roberts, KJ., and Macedo, A. "Exposure to violence predicts poor educational outcomes in young children in South Africa and Malawi." *International Health* 8, no. 1 (December, 2015). Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26678567</u>.
- Barbarin, OA., Richter, L., and DeWet, T. "Exposure to violence, coping resources, and psychological adjustment of South African children." *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 71, no. 1 (2001): 16-25. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1866189</u>.
- 73. Pieterse, D. "Childhood Maltreatment and Educational Outcomes: Evidence from South Africa." *Health Economics* 24, no. 7 (2015): 876-94.
- 74. Lee, S., and Rudolf, R. "The relationship between school-related gender-based violence and absenteeism: Evidence from fourteen Southern and Eastern African countries." *South African Journal of Education* 42, no. 4 (2022).
- 75. Fang, X., Zheng, X., Fry, D., Ganz, G., Casey, T., Hsiao, C., et al. "The Economic Burden of Violence against Children in South Africa." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 14, no. 11 (2017): 1431.
- 76. Caglayan, M., Flamini, A., and Jahanshahi, B.. "Hindering human capital accumulation: A hidden cost of the silent mafia?" *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 188 (2021): 828-45.
- 77. Ferreira, S., and Carbonatto, C. "A license to leave South Africa:" a qualitative study of South African parent's narratives of their children's reasons for emigration." *Social Work* 56, no. 3; (2020).

- 78. "Skilled labour emigration in South Africa: Exploring the long-term implications." Southern Africa | Towards Inclusive Economic Development. Policy brief, 2021. Available at: <u>https://sa-tied-archive.</u> wider.unu.edu/article/skilled-labour-emigration-south-africa-exploring-long-term-implications-0.
- 79. "The Macroeconomic Impact of Skilled Emigration from South Africa: A CGE Analysis." Bohlmann, H. Working paper no. 166 (2010). Available at: <u>https://core.ac.uk/reader/6886390</u>.
- 80. "Too costly to ignore the economic impact of gender-based violence in South Africa." *KPMG* (2014). Available at: <u>https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/za/pdf/2017/01/za-Too-costly-to-ignore.pdf</u>.
- 81. Duvvury, N., Callan, A., Carney, P., and Raghavendra, S. "Intimate Partner Violence: Economic costs and implications for growth and development." *World Bank*, 2013. Available at: <u>https://www. worldbank.org/content/dam/Worldbank/document/Gender/Duvvury%20et%20al%202013%20</u> Intimate%20Partner%20Violence%20Economic%20Costs%20and%20Implications%20for%20 Growth%20and%20Development%20Jan%209%202014.pdf.
- 82. Reeves, C., and O'Leary-Kelly, A. "The Effects and Costs of Intimate Partner Violence for Work Organizations." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 22, no. 3 (2007): 327-44.
- 83. Tandrayen-Ragoobur, V. "Intimate partner violence and women's labour force participation in Sub Saharan Africa." *Community, Work, & Family* 23, no. 1 (2020): 19-43.
- 84. Evans-Lacko, S., and Knapp, M. "Global patterns of workplace productivity for people with depression: absenteeism and presenteeism costs across eight diverse countries." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 51, no. 11 (2016): 1525-37.
- 85. Rasmussen B, Sweeny K, Sheehan P. Economic Costs of Absenteeism, Presenteeism and Early Retirement Due to III Health: A Focus on South Africa. Report to the US Chamber of Commerce, February, 2017.
- 86. Africa SS. Statistical release P0441: Annual estimates 2004 2013; Regional estimates 2004 2013; Third quarter 2014.
- 87. Medina, L., Jonelis, A., and Cangul, M. The Informal Economy in Sub-Saharan Africa: Size and Determinants. International Monetary Fund, Working Paper No. 2017/156 (2017).
- 88. Matzopoulos, R., Truen, S, Bowman, B., and Corrigall, J. "The cost of harmful alcohol use in South Africa: A reply to Murray and Barr (2022)." *South African Medical Journal* 112, no. 7 (2022): 451-2. Available at: <u>https://journals.co.za/doi/full/10.7196/SAMJ.2022.v112i7.16660</u>.
- 89. Lindhjem, H., Navrud, S., Braathen, NA., and Biausque, V. "Valuing Mortality Risk Reductions from Environmental, Transport, and Health Policies: A Global Meta-Analysis of Stated Preference Studies." *Risk Anal* 31, no. 9 (2011): 1381-407.
- 90. Cooper, PJ., Tomlinson, M., Swartz, L., Landman, M., Molteno, C., Stein, A., et al. "Improving quality of mother-infant relationship and infant attachment in socioeconomically deprived community in South Africa: Randomised controlled trial." *BMJ* 338, no. 7701 (2009): 997.
- 91. Cluver, LD., Meinck, F., Steinert, JI., Shenderovich, Y., Doubt, J., Romero, RH., et al. "Parenting for lifelong health: A pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial of a non-commercialised parenting programme for adolescents and their families in South Africa." *BMJ Global Health* 3, no. 1 (2018): 1-15.
- Lachman, JM., Cluver, L., Ward, CL., Hutchings, J., Mlotshwa, S., Wessels, I., et al. "Randomized controlled trial of a parenting program to reduce the risk of child maltreatment in South Africa." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 72 (October, 2017): 338–51. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chiabu.2017.08.014</u>.
- 93. Ward, CL., Wessels, IM., Lachman, JM., Hutchings, J., Cluver, LD., Kassanjee, R., et al. "Parenting for Lifelong Health for Young Children: a randomized controlled trial of a parenting program in South Africa to prevent harsh parenting and child conduct problems." *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines* 61, no. 4 (2020): 503–12.

- 94. Corrigall, J., and Matzopoulos, R.. "Violence, Alcohol Misuse and Mental Health." Sabinet (2012): 103-14.
- 95. WHO. Global alcohol action plan 2022-2030 to strengthen implementation of the Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol. June, 2021. Available at: <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/alcohol/alcohol-action-plan/first-draft/global\_alcohol\_acion\_plan\_first-draft\_july\_2021.pdf</u>.
- 96. Sorsdahl, K., Stein, DJ., Corrigall, J., Cuijpers, P., Smits, N., Naledi, T., et al. "The efficacy of a blended motivational interviewing and problem solving therapy intervention to reduce substance use among patients presenting for emergency services in South Africa: A randomized controlled trial." Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 10, no. 1 (2015): 1-10. Available at: <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13011-015-0042-1</u>.
- Dwommoh, R., Sorsdahl, K., Myers, B., Asante, KP., Naledi, T., Stein, DJ., et al. "Brief interventions to address substance use among patients presenting to emergency departments in resource poor settings: A cost-effectiveness analysis." Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation 16, no. 1 (2018): 1-11. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12962-018-0109-8</u>.
- Jewkes, R., Nduna, M., Levin, J., Jama, N., Dunkle, K., Puren, A., et al. "Impact of Stepping Stones on incidence of HIV and HSV-2 and sexual behaviour in rural South Africa: cluster randomised controlled trial." *BMJ* 337 (August, 2008): a506-a506. Available at: <u>http://www.bmj.com/cgi/ doi/10.1136/bmj.a506</u>.
- 99. Misselhorn, A., Mushinga, M., Jama, Shai N., and Washington, L. "Creating Futures: lessons from the development of a livelihood-strengthening curriculum for young people in eThekwini's informal settlements." *Sex Education* 14, no. 5 (2014): 543–55. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u>/14681811.2014.905463.
- 100. Gibbs, A., Abdelatif, N., Washington, L., Chirwa, E., Willan, S., Shai, N., et al. "Differential impact on men in an IPV prevention intervention: A post hoc analysis using latent class analysis of the Stepping Stones and Creating Futures intervention in South Africa." *Social Science & Medicine* 265 (November, 2020): 113538. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113538</u>.
- 101. Pronyk, PM., Hargreaves, JR., Kim, JC., Morison, LA., Phetla, G., Watts, C., et al. "Effect of a structural intervention for the prevention of intimate-partner violence and HIV in rural South Africa: a cluster randomised trial." *Lancet* 368, no. 9551 (December, 2006): 1973-83. Available at: <a href="https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673606697444">https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673606697444</a>.
- 102. Jan, S., Ferrari, G., Watts, CH., Hargreaves, JR., Kim, JC., Phetla, G., et al. "Economic evaluation of a combined microfinance and gender training intervention for the prevention of intimate partner violence in rural South Africa." Health Policy and Planning 26, no. 5 (2011): 366-72.
- Ditlopo, P., Mullick, S., and Askew, I. Testing the Effectiveness of the Men as Partners Program (MAP) in Soweto, South Africa. Frontiers in Reproductive Health Program, Population Council. November, 2007. Available at: <u>https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/departments\_sbsr-rh/23/</u>.
- 104. Matzopoulos, R., Bloch, K., Lloyd, S., Berens, C., Myers, J., and Thompson, M. Lou. "Urban upgrading linked with positive social outcomes in Cape Town, South Africa." In: *Reducing Violence In the Global South*, 69–89. Oxfordshire, UK: Routledge, 2018.
- 105. South African Institution of Civil Engineering (SAICE). SAICE 2022 Infrastructure Report Card for South Africa, 2022.
- 106. Bruce, D., and Gould, C. "The war against the causes of crime." South African Crime Quarterly 30 (December, 2009): 13-20.
- 107. Rauch, J. The 1996 National Crime Prevention Strategy. Institute for Security Studies, 1996.
- 108. Rauch, J. Changing step : crime prevention policy in South Africa. Crime Prevention Partnerships, 1998.

- 109. National Planning Commission. National Development Plan: Vision for 2030: Our Future Make it Work. 2012. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.za/documents/national-development-plan-2030-our-future-make-it-work</u>.
- 110. Civilian Secretariat for Police. White paper on Safety and Security. Pretoria, South Africa, 2016. Available at: <u>https://pmg.org.za/policy-document/1150/</u>.
- 111. Matzopoulos, R., and Myers, JE. "The Western Cape Government's new Integrated Provincial Violence Prevention Policy Framework: Successes and challenges." *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 19, no. 6 (2014): 649–54. Available at: <u>http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359178914001050</u>.
- 112. Western Cape Government. Western Cape Safety Plan. Working document, 2019. Available at: https://www.westerncape.gov.za/sites/www.westerncape.gov.za/files/assets/departments/ premier/western\_cape\_government\_safety\_plan\_0.pdf.
- 113. WHO. Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva, 2010.
- 114. Moultrie,TA., Dorrington, RE., Laubscher, R., Groenewald, P., Parry, CDH., Matzopoulos, R., et al. "Unnatural deaths, alcohol bans and curfews: Evidence from a quasi-natural experiment during COVID-19." South African Medical Journal 111, no. 9 (2021): 834. Available at: <u>http://www.samj.org.</u> <u>za/index.php/samj/article/view/13345</u>.
- 115. Barron, K., Parry, CDH., Bradshaw, D., Dorrington, R., Groenewald, P., Laubscher, R., et al. "Alcohol, Violence and Injury-Induced Mortality: Evidence from a Modern-Day Prohibition." *The Review* of *Economics and Statistics* (July, 2022): 1-45. Available at: <u>https://direct.mit.edu/rest/article/ doi/10.1162/rest\_a\_01228/112423/Alcohol-Violence-and-Injury-Induced-Mortality</u>.
- 116. Chu, KM., Marco, JL., Owolabi, EO., Duvenage, R., Londani, M., Lombard, C., et al. "Trauma trends during COVID-19 alcohol prohibition at a South African regional hospital." *Drug and Alcohol Review* 41, no. 1 (2021): 13-19. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33998731/</u>.
- 117. Chisholm, D., Moro, D., Bertram, M., Pretorius, C., Gmel, G., Shield, K., et al. "Are the 'best buys' for alcohol control still valid? An update on the comparative cost-effectiveness of alcohol control strategies at the global level." *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs* 79, no. 4 (2018): 514-22. Available at: https://www.jsad.com/doi/10.15288/jsad.2018.79.514.
- 118. World Health Organization. The SAFER Initiative. 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/initiatives/SAFER</u>.
- 119. Matzopoulos, RG., Thompson, M Lou.,and Myers, JE. "Firearm and Nonfirearm Homicide in 5 South African Cities: A Retrospective Population-Based Study." *American Journal of Public Health* 104, no. 3 (2014): 455-60. Available at: <u>http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/10.2105/AJPH.2013.310650</u>.
- 120. Matzopoulos, R., Simonetti, J., Prinsloo, M., Neethling, I., Groenewald, P., Dempers, J., et al. "A retrospective time trend study of firearm and non-firearm homicide in Cape Town from 1994 to 2013." *South African Medical Journal* 108, no. 3 (2018): 197. Available at: <u>http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/12220</u>.
- 121. Matzopoulos, R., Prinsloo, M., Bradshaw, D., and Abrahams, N. "Reducing homicide through policy interventions : The case of gun control." South African Medical Journal 109, no. 11 (2019): 63-8.
- 122. Prinsloo Guns. People vs the State: Class Action. Available at: https://prinslooguns.org.za/.
- 123. United Nations Office for Disarmament Affairs. Arms Trade Treaty. 2013.
- 124. Southern African Development Community. Protocol on the Control of Firearms and Ammunition. 2001. Available at: <u>https://www.sadc.int/sites/default/files/2021-11/Protocol\_on\_the\_Control\_of\_Firearms\_Ammunition2001%20%281%29.pdf</u>.
- 125. Matzopoulos, R., and Bowman, B.. "Sustainable development goals put violence prevention on the map." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 37, no. 2 (2016): 260–2. Available at: <a href="http://link.springer.com/10.1057/jphp.2016.13">http://link.springer.com/10.1057/jphp.2016.13</a>.

- 126. *Matzopoulos*, R., Cornell, M., Bowman, B., and Myers, J. "67th WHA Resolution on violence prevention misses the mark." *Lancet* 384, no. 9946 (September, 2014): 854–5. Available at: <u>http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673614614872</u>.
- 127. Cassidy, T., Bowman, B., McGrath, C., and Matzopoulos, R. "Brief report on a systematic review of youth violence prevention through media campaigns: Does the limited yield of strong evidence imply methodological challenges or absence of effect?" *Journal of Adolescence* 52 (October, 2016) :22-6. Available at: <u>http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140197116300665</u>.
- 128. Hadji, MJ., and Osunkunle, O. "Evaluating government's communication strategy of the 16 Days of Activism campaign for No Violence Against Women and Children in South Africa." *African Journal of Gender, Society, and Development 9*, no. 4 (2020): 219-41. Available at: <a href="https://journals.co.za/doi/abs/10.31920/2634-3622/2020/v9n4a10">https://journals.co.za/doi/abs/10.31920/2634-3622/2020/v9n4a10</a>.
- 129. Remme, M., Michaels-Igbokwe, C.,and Watts, C. "What Works to Prevent Violence against women and girls evidence reviews Paper 4: Approaches to scale-up and assessing cost-effectiveness of programmes to prevent violence against women and girls." What Works to Prevent Violience (September, 2015): 47. Available at: <u>https://www.whatworks.co.za/documents/publications/38-2global-evidence-reviews-paper-4-approaches-to-scale-up-and-assessing-cost-effectiveness-ofprogrammes-to-prevent-violence-against-women-and-girls/file.</u>
- 130. Muirhead, D., Watts, C., and Kumaranayake, L. *Economically evaluating the 4th Soul City series:* costs and impact on HIV/AIDS and violence against women. Johannesburg: Soul City Institute for Health and Development Communication, 2002. Available at: <u>https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/</u> id/eprint/18138/